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OUR VISION

To be one of the best in the world in delivering correctional services
with integrity and commitment to excellence.

OUR MISSION

Placing rehabilitation at the centre of all departmental activities in
partnerships with external stakeholders, through:

• The integrated application and direction of all departmental
resources to focus on the correction of offending behaviour, the
promotion of social responsibility and the overall development of

the person under correction;
• The cost effective provision of correctional facilities that will pro-
mote efficient security, correction, care and development services

within an enabling human rights environment;
• Progressive and ethical management and staff practices within
which every correctional official performs an effective correcting

and encouraging role.
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1.1 Foreword by the Minister of

Correctional Services, 
Mr Ngconde Balfour MP

IIn accordance with Section 65 of the Public
Finance Management Act, Act No. 1 of 1999, I have
a statutory obligation to present a report to
Parliament and to the people of the Republic of
South Africa on how the Department expended its
allocated budget during the 2003/04 financial year.

I wish to acknowledge the sterling work of my pred-
ecessor, Mr Ben Skosana. His was one of the most
honourable, yet difficult tasks as he had to set the
standard and the pace in the mammoth task
entrusted to this Department. I want to convey my
gratitude to him for his efforts in correctly position-
ing DCS on the marathon track of our endeavours. 

A sound basis has been established to correct
offending behaviour and to establish a policy frame-
work which recognises our duty to respect the
human dignity of offenders and to rehabilitate them,
whilst ensuring the security of the public through
giving effect to court rulings relating to the incarcer-
ation of individuals whose conduct constituted
offending and illegal behaviour.

At the start of the new financial year, the Department
set itself new and a higher level of objectives that
have brought DCS closer to the ultimate goal of
being one of the best correctional services in the
world by delivering correctional services with pride
and humility. We did so, confident in the knowledge
that we are endeavouring to lay the best possible
foundation for future undertakings. 

Aspects that the Department mainly focused on dur-
ing the financial year include:

• Continuing endeavours to prevent and uproot
corruption within our ranks through the identifica-
tion of mismanagement and poor discipline, top
level investigation of criminal behaviour and the
imposition of appropriate sanctions against guilty
parties;

• Continuing efforts to reduce the ever-increasing
challenge of overcrowding which, like corruption,
constitutes a serious stumbling block to success-
ful realisation of the objective of rehabilitation;

• The successful placement of the mandate of the
Department firmly on the government’s agenda;
especially in relation to issues of policy and over-
crowding;

• The successful placement of rehabilitation at the
centre of our activities by defining, for the first
time in the history of the Department, rehabilita-
tion within the context of corrections; and 

• The development of a national policy framework
in the form of a White Paper and the realignment
of departmental structures and systems aimed at
realising the objective of rehabilitation.

These are, by any measure, significant advances by
the Department in its endeavour to contribute mean-
ingfully to crime prevention and to the improvement
of working conditions for employees. 

The finalisation of the White Paper and the submis-
sion thereof to Parliament will set the process in
motion to effect the necessary amendments to the
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Correctional Services Act, Act 111 of 1998, as well
as the promulgation of the revised regulations.

Throughout its policy review and restructuring
process undertaken during the year, the Department
recognised the importance of the family and com-
munities as the primary and secondary levels of
behaviour moulding and correction, respectively,
and that these ties are crucial to human develop-
ment.

Consequently, numerous efforts were undertaken to
sustain ties between offenders and their families and
to link offenders with their communities to enable
them to come to terms with the consequences of
their actions.  There can be no substitute for human
interface with offenders as the ultimate remedy for
the prevention of crime. Hence the efforts undertak-
en during the year under review and beyond to pro-
vide training to our staff and build solid relationships
with communities and other stakeholder organisa-
tions to ensure understanding of the challenges of

the rehabilitation of offenders and the need for
ongoing endeavours to combat crime within our
communities.

In presenting this report to you, I call on you as
public representatives and the public in general, to
join hands with the Department and to work tireless-
ly to prevent recidivism. I urge society to accept the
challenge of promoting good citizenship by ensur-
ing that children learn about values and morality
early in life and grow up to be well-adjusted, honest
and responsible citizens of South Africa. 

Correction is and will ultimately remain a societal
responsibility. 

BMN Balfour, MP
Minister of Correctional Services
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1.2 Introduction by the

Commissioner of Correctional
Services, Mr Linda Mti 

IIt is an honour for me to present the report on the
performance of the Department of Correctional
Services for the period 1 April 2003 to 31 March
2004 in fulfilment of the requirements of the Public
Finance Management Act, Act No. 1 of 1999.

During the year under review, the Department of
Correctional Services made groundbreaking
changes on policy and organisational level. The
national policy framework is currently being revised
to ensure alignment with the Draft South African
White Paper on Corrections.

As a Department, we continue to face major chal-
lenges that impede our capacity to deliver at the
desired level. In order to address these challenges
we identified fourteen priorities for the year
2003/2004. Of these, the following five were critical

intervention areas necessary to position the
Department for effective implementation of its con-
stitutional mandate: 

• Transformation and restructuring
• Human resource development
• Framework against corruption
• Compliance with existing policies
• Green Paper and Policy Development.

While these were by no means the only priorities for
the Department, they were, however, regarded as
the sine qua non priorities and the basis on which
others would be pursued.

The Strategic Plan for the 2003/04 financial year
contained a number of strategic focus areas, or
service delivery areas that we, as a Department,
believe are crucial to the realisation of our main
objectives. These focus areas define the concept of
rehabilitation for the Department and introduced key
intervention strategies that were translated into new
budget programmes against which the future per-
formance of the Department is to be measured.
These service delivery areas included Corrections,
Care, Security, Development, Facilities and After
Care. The implementation of the strategic plan to
develop and align our policies with the draft White
Paper on Corrections was put into operation without
compromising work continuity and the effective ren-
dering of services.

The Department committed itself to improving the
levels of compliance with existing policies. As the
1994 White Paper which regulated the activities of
the Department proved to be not only inadequate
but also outdated, the Strategic Plan focussed on
policy reviewal and alignment.  New policies were
developed and updated where existing policies
were inadequate and required alignment or adjust-
ment.  Ongoing work on formulating the White
Paper informed the parallel processes of adjustment
and the Department developed implementation
plans for new policies with built-in mechanisms for
monitoring and evaluation.

Most importantly in terms of delivery on rehabilita-
tion and the White Paper, the Department through
adopting the slogan “every official becoming a reha-
bilitator” initiated a process of engaging with the
mindset shift that is required by the vast staff of
DCS in order to be implementers of the new para-
digm embodied in the Draft White Paper on
Corrections.

I am gratified to report that substantial progress was
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made as the Department, together with its social
partners, did remarkably well against the targets it
set for itself in both the Strategic Plan and the
Estimates of the National Expenditure (ENE). The
challenges ahead remain interlinked with the imple-
mentation of the new policy framework which itself
will require a paradigm shift on the part of our per-
sonnel from guardians to correctional agents and on
the part of society from distancing itself from offend-
ers to accepting the challenge of correction as its
own.

I further wish to thank all local governments, NGO’s,
CBO’s, and tertiary institutions that continued to
provide relentless support to ensure that a signifi-
cant number of rehabilitated offenders walked out of

the gates of our prison facilities accepted for once,
as having atoned for their wrongdoings and with the
knowledge that they could now look forward to
being productive citizens of our nation.

The long and challenging path of rehabilitation
through correction lies ahead of us and we have
committed ourselves to joining hands with all role-
players and stakeholders to serve this noble cause
with humility and pride.

L M Mti
Commissioner of Correctional Services
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1.3 Information on the Ministry of

Correctional Services

1.3.1 Policy Formulation

The Minister led a process of policy reviewal to align
the work of the Department with the new require-
ments of the Constitution of the Republic of South
Africa as the previous White Paper of the Depart-
ment was not in line with the 1996 Constitution or
post 1994 statutory developments. In October 2003,
the Cabinet endorsed the Draft South African White
Paper on Corrections in principle. The draft White
Paper embodies the strategic direction of the
Department which places rehabilitation at the core
of all its activities and thus provides a policy frame-
work that will regulate conditions of persons in
detention ensuring that not only are they detained
under secure conditions consistent with human dig-
nity but that they are given every opportunity for
rehabilitation.

During the year the Minister hosted a ground-break-
ing two-day conference in Johannesburg attended
by twelve Southern African Ministers of Corrections
in the SADC region to devise an international strate-
gy to position corrections to fight crime and crimi-
nality in the region. The theme of the conference
was "Developing African solutions to challenges of
corrections in Africa". The Johannesburg
Declaration was adopted during this conference and

acknowledged that the main objectives of correc-
tional services are to fight crime, reduce recidivism
and build a safer society. All the Ministers present
committed their countries to pioneering new strate-
gic thinking in the management of correctional cen-
tres as centres of new beginnings for the offender
population in their regions. . 

The following were identified as critical areas for
future cooperation in the region:

• Technical co-operation
• Human resource development
• Penal reform
• Exchange of security information
• Implementing of Minimum Standards in line with

applicable African Union declarations.

The conference agreed on the creation of a com-
mon philosophy on corrections, rehabilitation and
the reintegration of offenders. Future endeavours
are to be implemented to establish a Corrections
and Justice Platform within the SADC Organ on
Politics, Security and Defence.
.
During the period under review the Department reg-
istered a marked decrease in the number of
escapes from within its Correctional Centres.  This
can be ascribed to renewed efforts to improve secu-
rity within the facilities and the implementation of
measures aimed at ensuring that the sentences of
the courts are enforced.

A number of mecha-
nisms were put in
place to deal with
the problem of over-
crowding in our
Correctional
Centres. As part of
these measures,
Cabinet took a deci-
sion to advance
parole dates of petty
offenders by ten
months to alleviate
the negative impact
of overcrowding and
the subsequent
strain on the
Department's budg-
et. Consequently, a
substantial number
of these offenders
were released dur-
ing the year under
review. The

Former Minister Ben Skosana and some SADC counterparts at a dinner during the meet-
ing of Ministers of Correctional and Prison Services held at the Sandton Convention
Centre during July 2003.
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Department played a leading role in the IJS down-
ward management of levels of overcrowding that led
in particular to lower levels of Awaiting-trial
Detainees (ATD's) in incarceration.

The restructuring of the Department was completed
within the time-frames of Resolution 7 and 8 of the
PSCBC of 2002. The restructuring process resulted
in streamlining and re-organising structures from
Correctional Centre level right up to National Office
level. The Department is now divided into six
regions as opposed to nine provinces and this has
improved management capacity and brought the
Department into closer alignment with new munici-
pal boundaries.

During the period under review Cabinet approved
the Department's Fraud and Anti-Corruption
Strategy. The Strategy is based on three solid pil-
lars, namely Prevention, Investigation and
Sanctioning. Other policies that focused on improv-
ing the management of inmates included the intro-
duction of a cashless system for inmates and the
implementation of the policy on HIV/Aids. 

To consolidate the restructuring process, a new
strategic plan for 2003/4-2005/6 was adopted under
the motto: "From every official becoming a rehabili-
tator to every prison becoming a correctional centre
- a place of new beginnings - to every offender
becoming a nation-server through correction." This
motto not only serves as a rallying call to action for
the staff, but also seeks to inculcate a culture of
social responsibility among the offenders. 

1.3.2 Jali Commission

The Jali Commission continued its inquiry into alle-
gations of corruption in the Department as part of

the Department's overall anti-corruption strategy.  

The Commission assisted in revealing and exposing
the following transgressions by staff members:

• Pecuniary dealings with prisoners
• Gross negligence
• Accepting bribes
• Receiving money for delivering goods
• Unsatisfactory work
• Misuse of their position for personal gain
• Assault
• Assistance with escapes
• Unlawful release of prisoners
• Allowing prisoners to do nursing duties.

These actions had the following results:

• Disciplinary hearings were finalised on the fraudu-
lent matriculation certificates in KwaZulu-Natal
resulting in the dismissal of 15 officials.

• At the Grootvlei Correctional Centre disciplinary
steps were recommended against 26 officials, 22
of whom were dismissed as a result of the hear-
ings, 1 passed away, 2 resigned, 1 was dismissed
due to a previous transgression and 1 was issued
with a final warning. 

• One dismissal in the Eastern Cape. 

Most of the recommendations made by the
Commission in its interim report were accepted and
implemented by the Department. 

Over and above the work of the Jali Commission,
the Management of the Department worked closely
with the Special Investigation Unit on the proclama-
tion that empowers the SIU to investigate corrup-
tion, fraud and serious maladministration in the
DCS. 

1.3.3 International visits

The Minister attended the following international
conferences during the period under review:

The American Correctional Association's (ACA) sum-
mer conference in Nashville, Tennessee from 9-14
August 2003 where the Minister also acted as the
moderator for the International Relations Committee.

The 29th Canadian Congress on Criminal Justice in
Vancouver, Canada from 5-8 November 2003 where
the Minister presented an address entitled: Drugs
and Crime: a South African Perspective.
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The 2004 Winter Conference of the American
Correctional Association (ACA) held in New Orleans,
Louisiana from 10-12 January 2004. Thereafter, the
Minister proceeded to Howard University in
Washington DC where he addressed a meeting
organized by the Howard University on the South
Africa Project and the Centre for Drug Abuse
Research on 15 January 2004.

The Minister also attended a Seminar on the
Celebrations to mark the 10th Anniversary of South
African Democracy in Jackson, Mississippi, in the
United States from 8-12 March 2004. The Minister
addressed students and personnel at the Jackson
University as part of these celebrations.

1.3.4 Work of Statutory Bodies 

National Council for Correctional Services

The term of office of the National Council was
extended for a further year until 30 September 2004.

The Council had two meetings during the period
under review and advised the Minister on:

• Policy for the implementation of the new
Correctional Supervision and Parole Boards;

• Advancement of approved parole dates of sen-
tenced offenders;

• Awaiting-trial detainees with the option of bail;
and

• Consideration of placement on parole of prison-
ers sentenced to life imprisonment.

A delegation of the Council had a meeting with
Regional Court Presidents and Senior Magistrates
regarding matters relating to Correctional Services
and Justice with the focus on awaiting-trial
detainees.

Inspecting Judge

The Minister and the Inspecting Judge met on sev-
eral occasions. The main subject remained over-
crowding in the correctional centres. The Inspecting
Judge emphasised the existing appalling conditions
in some of the centres resulting in particular from
overcrowding, and suggested some measures to
alleviate this problem within the existing legal frame-

work.  Consequently, the Minister approved the ear-
lier release on parole of certain prisoners.

Besides numerous reports on prison inspections by
the Inspecting Judge and Independent Prison
Visitors, the Minister received a detailed Annual
Report from the Inspecting Judge. The report was
tabled in Parliament and made available to the pub-
lic.

1.4 Mission statement

Placing rehabilitation at the centre of all departmen-
tal activities in partnership with external stakehold-
ers, through:

• The integrated application and direction of all
departmental resources to focus on the correc-
tion of offending behaviour, the promotion of
social responsibility and the overall development
of the person under correction;

• The cost-effective provision of correctional facili-
ties that will promote efficient security, correction,
care and development services within an
enabling human rights environment;

• Progressive and ethical management and staff
practices where every correctional official per-
forms an effective rehabilitative role.

1.5 Legislative mandate

The legislative mandate that governs the
Department and its operations is contained in the:

Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996
Correctional Services Act, 1959 (Act No. 8 of 1959)
Correctional Services Act, 1998 (Act No. 111 of
1998)
Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of
1999)
Public Service Act, 1994 (Proclamation 103 of 3
June 1994)
Public Service Regulations, 2001
South African Qualifications Authority Act, 1995, (Act
No. 58 of 1995)
Skills Development Act, 1998, (Act No. 97 of 1998)
National Education Act.
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Voted Funds

2.1 Aim of the Vote

The aim of the Department of Correctional Services
is to contribute towards the maintenance and pro-
tection of a just, peaceful and safe society, by
enforcing court-imposed sentences, detaining
offenders in safe custody under humane conditions
and promoting the social responsibility and develop-
ment of all offenders and persons subject to com-
munity corrections.

Summary of programmes

The activities of the Department of Correctional
Services are organised under the following five pro-
grammes:

Programme 1: Administration
Programme 2: Incarceration
Programme 3: Rehabilitation
Programme 4: Community Corrections
Programme 5: Facility Management and Capital

Works

2.2 Overview of the organisational
and service delivery environment
for 2003/04

The period under review marked the continuation of
a rigorous process of aligning the Department with
its constitutional mandate and the accompanying
paradigm shift from a prison environment focused
on incarceration to correctional centres intent on
providing secure detention under conditions consis-
tent with human dignity. This overall policy shift has
meant that the Department manipulated its own
budget programmes in order to meet both legal and
constitutional prescripts. This process culminated in
a Draft South African White Paper on Corrections as
adopted by Cabinet in October 2003. The draft laid
a solid foundation for the reviewal of existing opera-
tional policies and procedures to ensure promotion
of effective delivery of rehabilitation through the cor-

Appropriation Main Adjusted Actual amount Under 
appropriation appropriation spent expenditure

R 7 677 021 000 R 7 677 021 000 R 7 520 423 000 R 7 387 110 000 R 133 313 000
Responsible
Minister Minister of Correctional Services
Administering Dept Department of Correctional Services
Accounting Officer Commissioner Correctional Services

rection of offending behaviour.

Efforts were therefore necessary to ensure that
ongoing strategic and policy shifts were within the
requirements of the budget and achieved the tar-
gets as set out in the ENE for the year under review.
The total expenditure for the year increased from 
R7 068 475 000 to R7 387 110 000 compared with
the previous year. Save for personnel costs, a sub-
stantial part of the budget focused on implementa-
tion of the Rehabilitation programme. Training,
development, care and counselling support to
inmates remained vital focus areas. The Department
was able to improve its record of reducing escapes
and tracking down more that 54% of absconders
from its parolee and probationer population. Several
NGO's continued to play a special role by providing
support to the Department and extending very valu-
able services to the inmate populations in many of
our centres. This included donor funding that was
used to research health challenges facing the
Department.

Towards the end of the year when the Department
had taken stock of its strategic and personnel
requirements, a process was embarked upon to
recruit personnel in order to reduce the number of
vacancies. Given the fact that many vacancies that
existed were for professional staff and middle and
senior management, the process was time-consum-
ing, but extensive ground was nevertheless cov-
ered. More than 1000 entry-level posts were also
advertised and in excess of 1,5 million applications
were received and processed.

Since the Department operates a seven-day, twenty-
four-hour service with a five-day establishment, the
provision of services over weekends continued to
be problematic due to the high costs in respect of
the payment of overtime. Towards the end of the
financial year, services were rationalised to provide
for budget constraints. 

The handicap in respect of performance during the
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year was the process of restructuring as prescribed
by the PSCBC resolution that consumed both the
time and energy of staff and management. 

The Rehabilitation Programme depended largely on
services of professional staff like nurses, social
workers, psychologists, medical doctors, pharma-
cists and teachers. This category of employees con-
tinued to leave the Department due to many factors
and one peculiar to the DCS being the absence of
incentives commensurate with its own unique chal-
lenges.   

Drought affected the management of many of our
facilities throughout the country and added to a
sometimes negative perception of our correctional
facilities being unhygienic and overcrowded. The
larger part of the KwaZulu-Natal, Mpumalanga and
Free State experienced an acute drought that result-
ed in loss of livestock, reduction in production on
our agricultural farms, temporary closure of some
facilities and relocation of inmates and staff to other
centres.

Notwithstanding these setbacks, the Department
was never deterred in its endeavour to ensure
improved service delivery to the public, other gov-
ernment departments and the offender population.
This report attests to a significant improvement in
service delivery. 

2.3 Strategic overview and key
policy developments for the
2003/04 financial year

2.3.1 White Paper on Corrections

During 2003, Cabinet approved the White Paper on
Corrections in South Africa as a draft with the
instruction that a costed implementation plan be
developed. The Department thus developed a con-
sultation plan to engage all stakeholders (labour
unions included). As required by Cabinet, the imple-
mentation plan of the Draft White Paper is in its final
stages and the National Treasury has been engaged
to assist with the estimates in respect of suggested
plans, in order to ensure proper costing of such
plans.

The Department has also gone through an extensive
restructuring and re-gearing process over the past
two years to realign itself with the White Paper. The
current re-defined mission and identified services
reflect the commitment of the Department to focus
on rehabilitation. Roll out of the Draft White Paper,

which in the main creates awareness amongst cor-
rectional officials and regional stakeholders in the
six regions is continuing in earnest and is continu-
ously monitored by the National Office. 

2.3.2 Correctional Supervision and Parole
Boards

The Correctional Services Amendment Act (Act 32
of 2001), which makes provision for the establish-
ment of community-based Correctional Supervision
and Parole Boards, was promulgated on 7
December 2002. The boards will make decisions
about the conditional and unconditional release of
offenders. These boards will also make the following
provision for participation: community representa-
tives will be involved in board sessions; victims or
their next-of-kin will be able to make representa-
tions; and other criminal justice system departments
will be represented on the boards. The Department
will advertise the positions in mid-2004 and the
process will be finalized soon to comply with this
provision of the Act. The intended date for imple-
mentation of this section of the Act is 1 October
2004.

2.3.3 Overcrowding

As at 31 March 2004, the total population of offend-
ers in the Department's facilities was 189 748.
Against the actual accommodation capacity, this fig-
ure represents an overpopulation percentage of
63%. This should be reworked to include two figures
- the level of ATDs contrasted to the 25 000 target
benchmark that the JCPS Directors-General debat-
ed in October 2003, and the level of sentenced
inmates contrasted to the bed capacity - 25 000.
This is a critical conceptual distinction. The
Department implemented the following strategies to
address the challenge of overcrowding:

• The DCS is co-operating with other departments
in the Integrated Justice System (IJS), notably the
Department of Justice and Constitutional
Development, on a range of projects to reduce
the number of awaiting-trial detainees. The DCS
convened and led the IJS Overcrowding Task
Team initially tasked to effect the Cabinet decision
that the IJS should collectively manage the levels
of overcrowding to achieve a downward trend. 

• The DCS is also promoting awareness in the IJS
of alternative sentencing options and diversion
programmes (from the Criminal Justice System).

• The IJS Development Committee, its substructure
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the Case Management Task Team and the Inter-
Sectoral Committee on Child Justice have taken
over the responsibility from the Justice, Crime
Prevention and Security Cluster Task Team on
overcrowding that was established at the end of
2002 to monitor the Criminal Justice System in
order to identify and eliminate the blockages that
result in increased inmate numbers.

• The building and staffing of new Correctional
Centres, designed cost-effectively.

• Finalisation of procurement models for
Correctional Centres.

• In September 2003, in order to alleviate over-
crowding, Cabinet approved the advancement of
the parole date of certain categories of sentenced
offenders by nine months. This immediately
reduced the offender population by approximately
7 000 inmates.

2.3.4 New Correctional Centres

Under the guidance of the National Treasury, the
Department decided to appoint a Transaction
Advisor who will assist the Department to formulate
and negotiate improved value-for-money changes to
the contracts with the two private companies provid-
ing custodial services at the Mangaung and
Kutama-Sinthumule Maximum Security Correctional
Centres (the PPP's). The Advisor will also undertake
comprehensive studies for the construction and pro-
curement of new Correctional Centres within the
approved budget allocation. The Transaction
Advisor was appointed during December 2003. This
appointment will result in the improvement of effi-
ciency in capital spending with regard to the con-
struction and maintenance of Correctional Centres
within the 2004/05 - 2006/07 medium term budget
allocation.

The Department has made considerable progress in
the planning and design of new Correctional Centre
projects. The "Blue Prints" for the "New Generation"
Correctional Centres were in the final stage by the
end of the 2003/04 financial year and will conform to
the new standards of Rehabilitation, Unit
Management and direct supervision. The document
("Blue Print") will incorporate standard layouts and
also alleviate the extensive use of private consult-
ants in the drawing-up of the necessary documenta-
tion. The sites for establishing and positioning of the
first four New Generation Correctional Centres
(Leeuwkop, Klerksdorp, Kimberley and Nigel) have
already been handed over to consultants. The ten-

dering process for the first four Correctional Centres
is envisaged to commence in October 2004 and
close in January 2005.

2.3.5 Development of offenders

Considerable progress has been made with the pro-
vision of development programmes to offenders that
offer them the chance to become self-supporting,
responsible members of the broader community.
These programmes and the level of offender partici-
pation also improved during the same period which
resulted in an increase in expenditure for the pur-
chasing of educational and training material and
equipment such as computers, tools and industrial
machines for the training and development of
offenders in lecture rooms and production work-
shops in Correctional Centres. The number of
offenders involved in educational programmes for
the year 2003 were 37 977. The Department further
addressed the development needs of offenders by
ensuring that illiterate offenders received training in
basic literacy and numeric skills. Policies on Formal
Education, Skills Development, Offender Sport,
Recreation, Arts and Culture, Production Workshops
and Agriculture, have been endorsed as working
documents in the Department. These policies will
form the foundation for the alignment of existing pol-
icy guidelines and procedure manuals.

The Department commenced the process of review-
ing the policies in respect of intervention pro-
grammes that will have fiscal implications for the
Programmes Corrections, Care and Development.
The intention is that certain programmes for correc-
tion and human development should not be volun-
tary, especially for young offenders and juveniles,
but should be compulsory to all offenders under
certain conditions subject to various considerations,
including budgetary implications. In the short to
medium term, this shift in the strategic direction of
the Department could become part of the imple-
mentation framework in the Centres of Excellence
that were identified. The Department will in future
focus more intensively on the needs of the youth
that will not only have fiscal implications for the
Department but also for the Department of Social
Development. This includes alternative facilities for
awaiting-trial children, the development of the youth
and in particular young first offenders. The impact of
rehabilitation programmes is well-illustrated by the
97 young offenders from the Western Cape,
Northern Cape, Free State and Gauteng who were
honoured at the Gold Award Ceremony of the
President's Award for Youth Empowerment in
Grahamstown and Johannesburg.
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2.3.6 HIV/AIDS policies

The Department has commenced with the imple-
mentation of its HIV/AIDS policies to ensure preven-
tion, care and support amongst offenders. The draft
Prison Based Care policy and the Post Exposure
Prophylaxis Protocol were developed and distrib-
uted for consultation purposes. 

2.3.7 Policies and Procedures Manuals

During the year under review, in compliance with the
Strategic Plan, policies on Formal Education, Skills
Development, Offender Sport, Recreation, Arts and
Culture, Spiritual Care, Production Workshops and
Agriculture, were finalized and approved as working
documents. These policies will form the foundation
for the development of new or the alignment of
existing policy guidelines and procedural manuals.

A process was initiated in 2003/04 to ensure the
review of the B-order (departmental procedures for
the implementation of policy) in line with the new
strategic direction of the Department and the White
Paper on Corrections in South Africa.

2.4 Departmental receipts

For the period under review the Department envis-
aged revenue of about R80 167 000, however the
revenue was approximately R80 675 000. The per-
formance is in line with what was envisaged and
revenue was largely generated from the sale of
products from production workshops, the hiring out
of offender labour, and the letting of official person-
nel accommodation. Part of the income generated
through offender labour is paid to offenders as a
gratuity.

Table 1: Departmental receipts 2000/01 to 2003/04

2.5 Departmental payments

Table 2: Departmental payments

2000/01 2001/02 2002/03 2003/04 2003/04 % Deviation
Actual Actual Actual Target Actual from target 
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Tax revenue - - - - - -
Non-tax revenue 70 547 75 408 71 580 75 732 77 697 2,6 %
Sales of capital 1 164 4 4 142 
assets (Capital 
Revenue)
Financial 1 718 925 4 189 4 431 2 836 (36%) 
transactions
(Recovery of loans 
and advances)
Total departmental 72 266 76 497 75 773 80 167 80 675 (0,8%) 
receipts

Programmes Voted for Virement Total voted Actual Variance
2003/04 R '000 R '000 Expenditure R '000

R '000 R '000
1. Administration 2 446 581 (13 060) 2 433 521 2 433 521
2. Incarceration 3 613 883 137 923 3 751 806 3 751 806
3. Rehabilitation 430 807 (33 502) 397 305 387 281 10 024
4. Community Corrections 262 759 16 078 278 837 276 996 1 841
5. Facility Management 1 362 782 (92 422) 1 270 360 1 134 133 136 227 

and Capital Works
Internal Charges (596 389) (15 017) (611 406) (596 627) (14 779)
Total 7 520 423 - 7 520 423 7 387 110 133 313
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2.6 Programme Performance

A. Purpose:

To render administrative support to the Department,
including the Ministry and senior management of
the Department.

B. Service delivery objectives and indicators:

(a) Human resource management and devel-
opment

During the first two quarters of 2003/04, the
Department was involved in a major restructuring
exercise as required by the Framework Agreement
of Resolution 7/2002 of the Public Service Co-ordi-
nating Council (PSCBC) on Transformation and
Restructuring of the Public Service. The restructur-
ing was also informed by the Department's intention
to review its capacity to implement its mandate effi-
ciently. Accordingly, a project aimed at auditing cur-
rent personnel capacity culminated in the develop-
ment of a Human Resource Planning Framework.  

Training requirements were established and the re-
orientation of personnel was introduced to ensure
alignment with the Draft South African White Paper
on Corrections. The orientation took the form of poli-
cy-oriented workshops. 

Internal audits and frequent inspections were con-
ducted to ensure that whilst policies were being
updated, currently existing policies were still com-
plied with. These processes revealed that the
Department still has an enormous task of capacity
building to ensure maximum compliance with poli-
cies, especially at the correctional centre levels. The
enormous need for capacity building can be
ascribed to uncertainties arising from transformation
and the continuous mobility of personnel from one
post to the next. 

Various new posts were created as a result of
restructuring and certain posts had to be job evalu-
ated before they could be filled. As none of the
employees of the Department were redundant, vari-
ous posts remained vacant. A rigorous process of
recruitment took place to fill the majority of the
vacant posts. This process will continue into the
2004/05 financial year. 

The restructuring process revealed a serious short-
age in respect of all professional posts required to
ensure effective rehabilitation of offenders. On aver-
age, the Department showed a turnover of approxi-
mately 150 staff members per month. This trend
continues due to numerous factors such as dis-
missals, resignations, medical boarding, non-com-
parable salary levels for professional staff and the
poaching of nurses, psychologists, pharmacists,
auditors, social workers and teachers. 

The Department submitted applications for permits
for nurses qualified in Primary Health Care (PHC) to
the National Department of Health. The granting of
permits for the nurses qualified in PHC will most def-
initely improve the quality of health care services
provided to the offenders serving sentences within
correctional centres. Similarly, both psychologists
and social workers were assisted to register with
their professional bodies.

A reviewal of the 38 Unit Standards developed by
the SGB (as per the last year's report) revealed that
most of them, especially those developed for the
provision of training for correctional officers, were
inadequate. Prior to their registration, the
Department requested an extension but due to
capacity problems, not enough work could be done
to improve its content. Accordingly, no formal entry-
level training took place during the year under
review, except for the reorientation of the profession-
al staff.

During November 2003, a national tender to the
amount of R1,3 million was awarded to the
Independent Examination Board (IEB) Asset for the
training of educators as assessors. This project was
an outflow of the notice issued by the South African
Qualifications Authority (SAQA) in the Policy
Document: 'Criteria and Guidelines for the registra-
tion of Assessors'. A total number of 302 educators
were trained in the Generic Assessor Standards and
portfolios have been submitted for final assessment.
Assessor qualifications will enable the staff to
improve the quality of training provided to the
offenders within the DCS environment.

The expenditure of the Administration programme
accounted for about 32,9% of the total expenditure

2.6.1 PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION
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of the Department in 2003/04. In earlier years this
programme comprised a larger proportion of the
departmental budget. The budget for Administration
increased mainly because the Department focused
on increasing its anti-corruption capacity and on
investment in human resource development.

In 2003/04 the Corporate Services subprogramme
consumed 92,6% of the programmes' expenditure.
Included in this subprogramme were the provisions
for medical aid benefits for members of the
Correctional Services Medical Scheme (Medcor).
The Department continued providing extra financial
support to ensure the viability of and compliance
with the closed Medical Scheme to which the major-
ity of its staff belong. The Department also managed
to purchase bulk stores via this sub-programme.
Inventories were issued to other programmes by
means of internal charges. Inventories increased by
4,8% in 2003/04, which was due to increased provi-
sions for Correctional Centre supplies under bulk
stores.

(b) Financial Management

In accordance with the Strategic Plan targets, con-
tinuous efforts were made to ensure a high level of
compliance with all existing departmental policies,
government policies and guidelines on financial and
supply chain management. There is a remarkable
record of improvement in financial management that
demonstrates some successes for Operation
Vukuza.

Various projects were launched to evaluate, update
and refine the contents of the Financial
Administration Procedure Manual and the
Provisioning Administration System Manual with the
new trends in the DCS and the Government.

The Department’s financial policies and manuals
were updated in line with the requirements of the
Strategic Plan. Due to the fact that the Department
changed over to a new financial system (Basic
Accounting System) adjustments are underway and
came into effect on 1 April 2004. 

(c) Asset Management and Control

The following measures were taken to ensure that
the Department's asset register remained up-to-date
during the period under review:

Since December the 1st, 2003, a process was com-
menced to capture all fixed moveable assets
(machinery and equipment) of the DCS on the Web

Asset Tool. These assets were previously adminis-
tered on the PAS 2.6 at an average unit price.
Capturing of assets on the Web Asset Tool is done
at an actual invoice price and up to the 31st March
2004, this Department had managed to capture
21.5% of all fixed moveable assets in accordance
with the Asset Management Guideline. This is a con-
tinuous and ongoing process for as long as assets
are procured by, donated to and transferred to this
Department.

Currently the Departments stock is in good condi-
tion. The Provisioning Administration Systems
Manual (PASM) prohibits the Department from
retaining stock that is in a poor condition.

The Repair and Maintenance Project included major
repairs in respect of 33 prisons and follow-up con-
tracts were entered into in order to allow for upgrad-
ing. In respect of further prisons only legislative
requirements pertaining to mechanical, electrical
and sewerage systems are being addressed. The
Department spent R258 million on these projects in
the 2003/04 financial year.

The total asset holding of the Department did not
change significantly as only minor alterations and
additions were undertaken during the year under
review. The only significant changes were the addi-
tions at the Klerksdorp and Wolmaranstad prisons.

Table 3: Projects that will be carried over to the
next financial year.

Project Budget R
Glencoe 705,037
Heidelberg 1,511,125
Kranskop 976,321
Benoni 2,917,907
Greytown 3,497,161

Table 4: New projects that will commence in the
forthcoming financial year

Melmoth Upgrading with additional accommodation
Bergville Upgrading with additional accommodation
Mapumulo Upgrading with additional accommodation
Nkandla Upgrading with additional accommodation
Matatiele Upgrading with additional accommodation
Estcourt Upgrading with additional accommodation

The tendering processes for capital works are done
by the Department of Public Works through the
State Tender Board. Expenditures that are involved
are consultants' fees, construction fees and the cost
to purchase land.
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No funds will be rolled over from the existing budget
to the next financial year. The Department has made
provision in future budgets to maintain the infra-
structure created by the capital investment.
Details as to how asset holdings have changed over
the period under review include information on dis-
posals, scrapping and loss due to theft.

None of these asset holdings have changed over

the period under review.

The information below is in respect of losses due to
theft:

Table 5:  Losses through criminal conduct

Capital Current Total
R 197 850-62 R27 071-49 R224 922-11

Table 6:  Inventories on hand at year-end

Current
Categories: Value
Stationery R   27 471 490.97
Medical supplies and related items R     7 050 232.05
Maintenance material R   13 911 697.64
Uniform/clothing R 183 107 968.46
Bedding/linen R     9 572 559.15
Cleaning material R   11 692 616.46
Provisions R   65 423 884.86
Raw material R   95 856 438.19
Livestock R   28 003 841.00
Total R 442 090 728.78

Capital
Categories: Value
Furniture/Equipment R   24 772 795.94
Firearms/Ammunition R     5 936 308.16
Total R   30 709 104.10
Grand total R 472 799 832.88

(d) Service Evaluation and Internal Audit

In terms of the provisions of the Correctional
Services Act, 111of 1998 the Department must con-
duct an internal service evaluation by means of

internal audits and inspections in order to assess
and determine the level of compliance with legisla-
tion and policies. During the period under review
internal audits and inspections were conducted in
respect of the following critical performance areas:

Table 7:  Inspections and Internal Audits

Inspections Internal Audits
Security Claims and Losses 
Occupational Health and Safety Prison Labour and Income
Loss Control Communication
Nutritional and Medical Services Homeowner Allowances
Government Transport Standby allowances, salaries and merit awards 
Community Corrections  Government Transport
Departmental Colleges Stock Control
Apops Prisons Budget Expenditure / Control

Leave Control
Subsidized Vehicles

Reports were also received from the consultants
with regard to internal audit functions that were out-
sourced during the previous financial year

(2002/03).  The findings in these reports are almost
similar to the findings of the inspectors and internal
audit staff.  The general findings on inspections /
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internal audits conducted, inter alia, include the fol-
lowing:

• Compliance with policies and legislation in most
prisons has not yet reached the required stan-
dard.

• Lack of strong and efficient management to
ensure the effectiveness of internal controls.

• Lack of proper training and development for cer-
tain post incumbents.

• Lack of adequate resources to ensure efficient
service delivery.

• Some prisons / areas show an improvement in
the implementation and compliance with policies
and legislation.

• The Apops Prisons are meeting their contractual
obligations to a large extent.

(e) Communication

Communication featured prominently in the
Department's strategic plan with the key strategy to
update departmental policy on communications in
line with rehabilitation objectives and to develop a
policy implementation plan.

A comprehensive communication operational plan
was developed towards the end of the 2003/04
financial year that will be implemented during the
next financial year.

It was, however, possible to render a reasonably
effective communication service during the year.
The Department has once again featured prominent-
ly in the media with the continuing investigations by
the Jali Commission into alleged incidents of cor-
ruption, maladministration, violence and intimidation
in the Department as matters of public interest.
Other issues that featured prominently in the media
were:

• The chronic overcrowding of correctional facilities
and the IJS initiatives to address it

• The impact of HIV/AIDS in correctional centres
• The Department's strategic focus on rehabilitation

as the central theme of its core business - various
rehabilitation activities and programmes featured
in the media

• The honouring of top performers amongst correc-
tional officers at several provincial awards cere-
monies held during the year

• The national choir competition for offenders with
the emphasis on the therapeutic value it has in
the rehabilitation process.

During the year under review the Department's

media liaison component issued 642 media releases
and dealt with 1 488 enquiries by the media.

In an attempt to further enhance good relations with
the media, the Department rendered support servic-
es for the National Press Club's Newsmaker of the
Year function.

The Department maintained its Internet website,
www.dcs.gov.za, throughout the year. Information
published on the website is regularly updated for
the convenience of the stakeholders, the general
public as well as the international community. An
Intranet Website is also being maintained to bolster
internal communication.

In pursuing the Department's aim to keep stakehold-
ers and the public informed of correctional matters,
various other means of communication were also
utilised during the period under review. These
included the displaying of a total number of 160
exhibitions across the country. Some of the most
prominent exhibitions during the year included an
exhibition in the foyer of the old National Assembly
to coincide with the Department's Budget Vote, an
exhibition at the Royal Pietermaritzburg Show and
one at the Pretoria International Show.

The Department generates its own corporate litera-
ture and promotional print media. The Government
Printing Works and its network of contracted service
providers do all printing work that cannot be done
with own resources.

Some of the more prominent printed materials com-
piled and distributed during the year include:

• 365 800 brochures and pamphlets on nineteen
different topics

• 2 500 annual reports
• 4 000 booklets
• 51 505 posters
• 17 000 cards inclusive of business cards and cor-

porate greeting cards
• 10 000 corporate folders
• 13 000 corporate calendars
• A variety of exhibition panels and banners

Publication of the Department's partially state-fund-
ed corporate magazine, Nexus, which was no
longer financially viable, was discontinued.  This
was mainly due to greatly declining subscriber num-
bers. However, to bolster internal communication, a
monthly newsletter will be published and provided
to all personnel. The first edition of this publication
is expected early in the new financial year.
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The Department's National Correctional Services
Museum, which is situated on the premises of the
Pretoria Prison complex, continued to be a popular
attraction with a total of 2 483 persons having visited
the museum during the year.

(f) Information Management and Information
Systems

The DCS's applications environment is mainly het-
erogeneous. This is demonstrated in a variety of
products, with disparate systems. The main prob-
lems associated with this heterogeneity are systems
integration, contract management, licenses and
maintenance, which translate into costs. The
Department has committed itself to move towards
an environment that does not allow heterogeneity
and subscribes to the notion of the IT house of
value, which is free from duplication and segrega-
tion and in which information systems are deter-
mined by information needs.

A process is underway to develop an IT strategy
which will be based on the premise that the provi-
sion of IT as a business support mechanism should
be informed by an organisation's core business
objectives and information needs. This will involve
the following:

• a rationalised operating system 
• a rationalised database environment and 
• a rationalised development environment.

These three key values will assist the Department in
reducing the IT Total Cost of Ownership. The current
updated Master Systems Plan encourages and
allows the Department to have different operating
systems, databases and applications. The
Department has started reviewing existing contracts
with a view to ensuring standardization of the entire
IT environment. The standards will be reviewed on a

continuous basis, as technology matures and the
other strategic processes of the DCS take form.

Migrating from a heterogeneous environment to a
homogeneous environment will have cost implica-
tions. Over the MTEF period the Department aims to
start implementing the process to establish the new
environment. It will be necessary for the two envi-
ronments to run parallel for a specified period. The
final change over from the old to the new environ-
ment will only take place once the new environment
has stabilized.

(g) Intergovernmental Relations

The Minister of Correctional Services convened the
first ever Meeting of Ministers responsible for
Correctional and Prison Services in the SADC
region during July 2003. The meeting adopted the
Johannesburg Declaration in which the Ministers re-
iterated that correctional services are there to fight
crime, reduce recidivism, and to build a safer socie-
ty. They called on the SADC to pioneer new strate-
gic thinking in the running of correctional centres as
centres of new beginnings.

The Ministers also emphasized the importance of
full integration of corrections and justice sectors into
the SADC Regional Strategic Indicative Programme.
They proposed that the most appropriate form of
organization of co-operation among the SADC
Ministers responsible for correction and justice and
their officials would be a Corrections and Justice
Sub-Committee under the SADC Organ on Politics,
Security, and Defence. The proposal will be taken
through individual countries into the SADC Review
forums and into the SADC Strategic Indicative Plan
for the Organ (SIPO). The SIPO will then set the
framework, work programme and operational
parameters for the functioning of the subcommittee
under the Organ.

A. Purpose

To take responsibility for the detention of inmates
and for their health, medical, nutritional and other
needs.

B. Measurable objective

To incarcerate inmates under safe, secure and

humane conditions in order to enforce court-
imposed sentences appropriately.

C. Service delivery objectives and indicators

Spending on Incarceration constituted approximate-
ly 50,8 %  of the Vote. This represents an 8,6 %
increase compared to the 2002/03 budget. The

2.6.2 PROGRAMME 2: INCARCERATION
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increases are linked to the higher operating costs
that are due to the appointment of additional per-
sonnel following the restructuring process.

(a) Health Care

Expenditure on Health Care Services increased to a
lesser extent than expenditure for Offender Control.
On average the allocation for Health Care Services
increased by 4.8% annually. This was largely due to
the proper implementation of Primary Health Care
and the increased treatment and hospitalization for
HIV/AIDS opportunistic infections (such as tubercu-
losis, pneumonia and meningitis).

The following health care services were rendered
during the year under review:

• Health education, including the promotion of
good health and the prevention of illness. This
service was rendered on an individualised basis. 

• Treatment of acute minor ailments e.g. injuries,
endemic diseases, communicable diseases (TB,
Sexually Transmitted Infections, cholera and der-
matological condition) and chronic diseases.

• Maternal and child health services
• Youth health services
• Pharmaceutical services
• Basic oral / dental health care services
• Basic optometry services
• Mental health services
• Care for the terminally ill 
• Provision of medico-legal services (rape, sodomy,

suicide and assaults)
• Provision of supplementary health services i.e.

laboratory, physiotherapy, radiography, speech,
hearing and occupational therapy services.

The management systems and procedures were
also improved to enhance service delivery and
improved care for offenders. The work done in this
regard includes:

• Improved resource generation, allocation and
management (nurses, pharmacists, medical prac-
titioners, caterers etc.)

• Strengthened cooperation with internal and exter-
nal partners (NGOs, CBOs, Private Institutions, etc)

• The development of health monitoring mecha-
nisms/ systems and quality assurance programmes

• The establishment of a referral system within the
correctional system and public health sector at
local/district, regional and provincial levels.

The Department utilised the services of community
service pharmacists in order to improve access to

pharmaceutical services by offenders within correc-
tional services facilities. During 2003/04 ten (10)
pharmacists completed their community service in
correctional centres.

The Department has commenced implementation of
its HIV/AIDS policies to ensure that offenders are edu-
cated regarding the prevention of the spread of the
disease and receive the necessary care and support
whilst in correctional centres. This programme was
further amplified by the support granted by the DFID
in Durban/ Westville targeting involvement of offend-
ers as peer support initiatives. This work was extend-
ed by an invitation of the Ugandan Commissioner of
Prisons to a workshop where the skills learned were
extended to other centres. The Ford Foundation also
funded training of departmental staff through the
University of Natal, whilst the Department supported
training of its staff through the University of Pretoria.

Extended counselling services are provided to
affected offenders by the social workers. In some
correctional centres offenders who are trained as lay
counsellors also provide counselling to their peers.
Support groups operate in various correctional cen-
tres to provide extended care services and support
to their peers.

Condoms are placed at accessible places to promote
safety and awareness of the HIV/AIDS pandemic.
Voluntary counselling and testing is also widely pro-
moted and the Department conducts awareness ses-
sions i.e. video sessions, group discussions, etc and
also presents lectures on health promotion.

The offenders are further exposed to HIV/AIDS
awareness through participation in all special events
that are indicated on the HIV/AIDS calendar, i.e.
World AIDS Day and International Candle Light
Memorial Day.  On 1 December 2003, the Minister of
Correctional Services attended the Department's
World AIDS Day celebrations in Durban.

Offenders are treated for opportunistic infections
and sexually transmitted infections.  The involve-
ment of the Department in the National Anti-
Retroviral Task Team further improved departmental
capacity to provide and extend treatment through
referrals to the treatment sites as identified by the
Department of Health. 

The following two examples of best practices within
the Department have shown our commitment to forge
successful partnerships with external Stakeholders in
order to fight the spread of the HIV/AIDS pandemic in
Correctional Services facilities.
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Table 8:  Key outputs, indicators and targets for the sub-programme health care services

Sub- Output Output measure/ indicator Target Actual
programme
Health and Provide a 24-  Reduction in the number of  Less than 30 20
Physical Care hour health offenders who receive health per month

care service to care services in private hospitals
all offenders

Number of Correctional Centres
that have a comprehensive 24- 120 prisons 238 prisons
hour health care service

Nutrition and  Provide Average daily nutrition provided 2 500 kilo 2 500 kilo
Personal offenders with 3 to offenders calories for calories for
Hygiene nutritious meals adult women adult women

2 500 kilo  2500 kilo
calories for  calories for
adult men (in   adult men (in 
the process  the process of
of being  being
amended) amended)

2 800 kilo  2 800 kilo
calories for  calories for
growing growing
children (in  children (in
the process the process 
of being  of being
amended) amended)

The Group of Hope in the Brandvlei
Correctional Centre in the Western Cape

This group consists of offenders with maximum
security classifications who each "adopted" an
HIV positive child in the community. The group
has a vegetable garden and donates the pro-
ceeds to the families of the children and also
provides gifts to the children. The Department
facilitates regular interaction between the chil-
dren and the offenders.

Partnership with the Ugandan Ministry of
Prisons

This partnership involves joint training of offend-
ers and personnel regarding HIV/AIDS. This
resulted in a better understanding between
offenders and personnel on all matters relating
to HIV/AIDS. The trainees are encouraged to
facilitate peer education amongst their col-
leagues.

The Department participated in the formulation and
arrangement of a national contract for the issue of
immune boosting food items. The Department,
together with the National Department of Health,
changed all dietary guidelines from the American
guidelines (recommended daily allowance) to the
South African Dietary Guidelines (recommended
daily intake).  New ration scales for juvenile offend-
ers were approved during the 2003/04 financial year

but could not be implemented immediately due to
financial constraints. It will be implemented during
the next financial year.  

Most of the Provincial Departments of Health started
withdrawing the provision of health care services to
the offenders, forcing the Department to negotiate
and procure these services through contractual
agreements. Alternatively, the Department contracts
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the services of private doctors for the offenders.
Discussions with eight Provincial Departments of
Health were finalized and Service Level Agreements
completed. The only outstanding agreement is with
the Provincial government of the Western Cape. In
KwaZulu-Natal however, constraints forced the
Provincial Department to recommend that the DCS
utilise existing agency agreements with individual
medical practitioners. 

(b) Offender Control

On 31 March 2004 the Department was managing
the following 240 correctional facilities countrywide:

• 8 correctional facilities for female prisoners only
• 13 youth correctional facilities
• 140 correctional facilities for male prisoners only
• 72 correctional facilities  accommodating both

male and female prisoners
• 5 correctional facilities  that are temporarily

closed down for renovations
• 2 APOPS correctional facilities for sentenced

males only (managed by private consortiums)

The increased crime-combating initiatives of the
Department of Safety and Security and the
Department of Justice and Constitutional
Development's initiative to reduce case backlogs,
resulted in an increase in the sentenced offender
population from 131 604 on 31 March 2003 to
133,764 on 31 March 2004. Thus, despite the fact
that 7 021 offenders were placed into the communi-
ty corrections system earlier by the advancement of
their release/placement dates by a maximum of 9
months during the year under review, the numbers
remained excessively higher than the current
accommodation capacity.

Table 9: The composition of the correctional facility population as at 31 March 2004

Category Adult Juvenile (under 21 years old) Total
Male Female Male Female

Sentenced 109 769 2 833 14 935 275 127 812
APOPS (sentenced) 5 952 0 0 0 5 952
Unsentenced 39 299 960 13 365 252 53 876
Total 155 020 3 793 28 300 527 187 640

Table 10: Total daily average correctional facility population for the 1995/96 financial year to the 2003/04
financial year

Year Male Female Total
1995/96 107 512 2 535 110 047
1996/97 118 476 2 980 121 456
1997/98 134 704 3 592 138 296
1998/99 139 541 3 462 143 003
1999/00 154 716 3 966 158 682
2000/01 162 425 4 162 166 587
2001/02 168 016 4 187 172 203
2002/03 177 300 4 253 181 553
2003/04 180 388 4 188 184 576

The National Task Team on Overcrowding in the
Integrated Justice System developed various strate-
gies which lead to the decrease of the unsentenced
offender population from 58 144 on 31 March 2003
to 53 876 on 31 March 2004. However, these

actions did not enable the Department as a whole to
achieve the 60% target. Against the actual accom-
modation capacity, the above figures left the facili-
ties overcrowded by 63%. 
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Table 11: Cell accommodation and utilisation as at 31 March each year

Date Correctional Facility Available Overpopulation
population accommodation

31 March 1996 118 080 94 796 23 284
31 March 1997 130 635 96 307 34 328
31 March 1998 146 435 99 407 47 028
31 March 1999 154 574 98 923 55 651
31 March 2000 171 462 100 130 71 332
31 March 2001 170 959 102 048 68 911
31 March 2002 178 998 109 106 69 892
31 March 2003 189 748 111 241 78 507
31 March 2004 187 640 114 787 72 853

The implementation of the Correctional Services Act,
Act 111 of 1998 and the Strategic Plan required the
introduction and alignment of new policies and pro-
cedures during the course of the 2003/04 financial
year. New measures were also introduced to
improve compliance with policies in order to
improve the security of the public, offenders and the
staff. 

To prevent the influx of dangerous weapons and
drugs into our correctional facilities a new policy
aimed at a "bagless" society in correctional centres
was approved. The reduction of escapes remained
a key strategic priority where a target of 185 was set
for the year. However, the overall achievement was a
30% reduction, i.e. from 281 in 2002/03 to 196 in
2003/04. Assaults on both staff and offenders were
also drastically reduced during the period under
review.

In line with the downward trend indicated above, the
number of unnatural deaths amongst offenders also
showed a slight decrease from 62 in 2002/03 to 45
in 2003/04.

In order to improve the accuracy of records and to
control the movements of unsentenced offenders in
correctional centres, the IJS piloted the introduction

of an electronic inmate tracking system. The installa-
tion and pilot project has been completed in
Durban-Westville and is nearing completion in
Johannesburg.

In line with its objective to place rehabilitation at the
centre of its activities, the Department has reviewed
the current stigmatising logo of "Prisoner" on offend-
er clothing. The logo will be substituted with an
alternative "Corrections" that will still make identifica-
tion possible for security considerations but will no
longer undermine the dignity of offenders.

The expenditure in respect of the sub-program
Health and Physical Care increased by a total of
4,8%. This was largely due to an increased provi-
sion for primary health and dental care to counter
the spread of opportunistic infections, including
HIV/AIDS, in correctional centres.

An over-expenditure of R 65 495 000 can be
ascribed to an increase in the requirement in
respect of  internal items for rations, animal feed,
medicines, personal hygiene and clothing due to
the increase in the offender population and the
weekend establishment (overtime).
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Table 12:  Delivery against targets

Subprogramme Output Measure/Indicator Target Actual
Offender Control Accommodation Number of offendes 209 400 187 640

for offenders in Number of offender places 110 874 114 787
Correctional (design capacity)

Centres Percentage overcrowding in 60% 63%
Correctional Centres

Number of offender escapes Fewer than 185 196
Safe and secure  Number of all assaults on Fewer than 2 380 2690

offenders and  offenders and staff in
staff Correctional Centres

Number of unnatural offender deaths Fewer than 50 45
Paroled  Proportion of offenders 50% 55%

offenders reviewed/awarded parole

The table below indicates the number of prisoners in custody per age categories as at 31 March 2004.

Table 13:  Age categories

Age categories: Awaiting trial detainees in correctional centres as at 31 March 2004
Gender <18 Years 18 to < 21 Years 21 to 25 Years > 25 Years Total
Female 66 186 277 683 1 212
Male 2 166 11 199 15 178 24 121 52 664
All Genders 2 232 11 385 15 455 24 804 53 876

Age categories: Sentenced offenders in custody as at 31 March 2004
Gender <18 Years 18 to < 21 Years 21 to 25 Years > 25 Years Total
Female 36 239 523 2 310 3 108
Male 1 890 13 045 32 401 83 320 130 656
All Genders 1 926 13 284 32 924 85 630 133 764

Age categories: Offenders in custody as at 31 March 2004
Gender <18 Years 18 to < 21 Years 21 to 25 Years > 25 Years Total
Female 102 425 800 2 993 4 320
Male 4 056 24 244 47 579 107 441 183 320
All Genders 4 158 24 669 48 379 110 434 187 640
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Table 14:  Sentence categories

The table below indicates the number of offenders per sentence group in correctional centres as at 31 March
2004 in relation to the two previous periods under review.

Sentence Groups 2004 2002 2003
Unsentenced 53 876 55 500 58 144
0-6 Months sentence 6 398 6 335 7 276
Sentence of more than 6 months to 12 months 6 459 6 561 6 934
Sentence of more than 12 months to less than 24 months 6 426 6 272 6 429
Sentence of more than 24 months to 3 Years 17 579 17 102 17 590
Sentence of more than 3 years to 5 years 16 633 16 876 17 180
Sentence of more than 5 years to 7 years 12 143 12 911 12 649
Sentence of more than 7 years to 10 years 21 326 20 889 21 325
Sentence of more than 10 years to 15 years 21 521 16 610 19 380
Sentence of more than 15 years to 20 years 9 742 7 281 8 578
Sentence of more than 20 years to life 13 794 10 388 12 242
Other Sentenced 1 743 2 273 2 021
Total Sentenced 133 764 123 498 131 604
All Sentence Groups 187 640 178 998 189 748
% Occupation 163.47% 164.06% 170.57%

The information contained in the table above indi-
cates that there is an increase in the sentence cate-
gory of more than 10 years. This can be ascribed to
compulsory minimum sentencing.

Over the past three financial years the number of
offenders per crime category has escalated. Table
15 indicates that there was a growth in aggressive
and sexually related offences. This has a negative
impact on the Department’s ever-increasing prob-
lem of overcrowding as these offences are concomi-
tant with longer periods of incarceration.

Table 15: Number of sentenced offenders per
crime category as at 31 March

Crime categories 2002 2003 2004
Economical 38 499 39 795 37 712
Aggressive 58 189 63 377 67 743
Sexual 15 086 16 608 17 556
Narcotics 3 739 3 974 3 347
Other 7 985 7 850 7 406
Total 123 498 131 604 133 764

Table 16: Sentence categories of offenders in custody as at 31 March 2004

Sentence Groups Female Male All Genders
Unsentenced 1 212 52 664 53 876
0-6 Months 458 5 940 6 398
>6-12 Months 274 6 185 6 459
>12-<24 Months 176 6 250 6 426
2-3 Years 507 17 072 17 579
>3-5 Years 448 16 185 16 633
>5-7 Years 262 11 881 12 143
>7-10 Years 402 20 924 21 326
>10-15 Years 334 21 187 21 521
>15-20 Years 97 9 645 9 742
>20 Years to Life 133 13 661 13 794
Other Sentenced 17 1 726 1 743
Total Sentenced 3 108 130 656 133 764
Grand Total 4 320 183 320 187 640
Approved Accommodation 4 374 110 413 114 787
% Occupation 98.77% 166.03% 163.47%
Accommodation Need -54 72 907 72 853
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2.6.3 PROGRAMME 3: REHABILITATION

A. Purpose

To provide skills and personal development pro-
grammes, as well as processes for re-integrating
offenders into the community upon their release.

B. Measurable objective

To provide rehabilitative interventions for sentenced
offenders to promote societal reintegration in order
to reduce recidivism. 

C. Service delivery objectives and indicators

The expenditure in respect of Rehabilitation
increased by an average of 9,1 % per annum. The
increase was due to administrative expenditure,
which increased from R15 098 000 in 2002/03 to
R16 756 000 in 2003/04. The increase reflected
renewed focus on prioritising the rehabilitation of
offenders. This reprioritisation translated into the
shifting of funds from all other programmes to the
rehabilitation programme in order to promote effec-
tive reintegration into the community. Development
services for offenders were provided by means of
social development, vocational and technical train-
ing and increased opportunities for access to formal
education.

In compliance with the objective as set out in the
Strategic Plan, policies on Formal Education, Skills
Development, Offender Sport, Recreation, Arts and
Culture and Production Workshops and Agriculture
were developed and implemented as working docu-
ments pending approval of the draft White Paper.
These policy documents will form the foundation for
policy guidelines and procedural manuals.

The Department addressed the rehabilitation needs
of offenders by providing several education and life
skills programmes, with a particular focus on
improving literacy and numerical skills. The award-
ing of a National Tender Contract for ABET learner
support and an increase in the annual allocation to
this Department from the National Skills Fund will
impact favourably on rehabilitation programmes.

With regard to its social development programmes,
the Department performed excellently during the
year under review. The target of 34 866 social work
sessions was drastically exceeded by 68 514 ses-
sions, amounting to a total of 103 380 sessions. The
increase in the performance was due to the employ-
ment of additional social workers in many of the cor-
rectional centres where there were no social work-
ers before. Partnerships with several NGO's also
helped to improve performance.

Psychological Services were provided to 9 352 sen-
tenced offenders which did not meet the target of 
10 000 sentenced offenders. The impact of the
decrease in the number of psychologists from 31 in
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the previous financial year to 23 in the financial year
under review impacted negatively on these figures.

Spiritual Care services experienced a decline during
the year under review. These services take the form
of church/spiritual services, group sessions and per-
sonal interviews. In 2002/03, 168 009 Spiritual Care
sessions were held, in comparison to 156 457 dur-
ing 2003/04. The decrease was due to budget repri-
oritisation that affected allowances paid for travelling
expenses.

The Department provides facilities as well as incen-
tives to encourage offenders to do productive work
as in this way they simultaneously acquire skills,
experience and knowledge. However, the daily aver-
age number of work opportunities for offenders
decreased marginally from 37 751 in 2002/03 to 
37 262 in 2003/04. The decline in work opportunities
is directly related to staffing problems and droughts
that were experienced in many of the management
areas.

Table 17:  Service delivery achievements

Subprogramme Output Measure/Indicator Target Actual

Development Rehabilitation programmes Number of offenders 
Programmes for sentenced offenders participating in:

Education programmes 15 000 18 126

Training programmes 10 500 19 851

Social work sessions 34 866 103 380

Psychological sessions 10 000 9 352

Spiritual care sessions 150 000 156 457

Work opportunities for Daily average number of 27 065 36 698 
offenders work opportunities for 

offenders provided by
the Department

Daily average number of 323 564  
work opportunities for 
offenders provided by 
outside organisations
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Subprogramme Output Measure/Indicator Target Actual

A national agricultural Agricultural production Vegetables
production system 13 800 000 kg 14 167 195 kg

aimed at increasing self- Fruit
sufficiency 810 000 kg 771 401 kg

Red meat 
550 000 kg 548 812 kg

Milk
6 600 000 litre 6 814 863 l

Pork
1 950 000 kg 1 870 718 kg

Chicken
1 350 000 kg 1 516 783 kg

Eggs
1 500 000 doz 1 316 737 doz

To increase productivity Number of workshop Timber 
and expanding capacity products produced 70 000 units 58 273 units 

of production workshops Textile
2 100 000 1 926 305

units units
Steel

248 000 units 171 332 units

The milk production (6 814 863 litres) and chicken
production (1 516 783kg) were the highest ever
attained by this Department. The production of
Vegetables (14 167 198kg) and red meat (548
812kg) was slightly lower than that of 2002/03.  The
pork (1870 718kg), fruit (771 401kg) and egg pro-
duction (1 316 737 dozen) did not meet the targets
due to various obstacles such as the severe
drought, problems with the procurement of layers
and the poor performance of piggeries.

No additional resources or agricultural infrastruc-
tures were acquired during the financial year.

The wood, steel and textile enterprises were not
successful in attaining their measurable objectives
due to a serious shortage of funds to procure raw
materials.

The wooden items manufactured (58 273) are less
than the 2002/03 production of 63 391 items.  The
same trend was also evident in the steel workshops.
The steel items manufactured (170 770) are well
below the 2002/03 production level of 189 949
items.  The production of textile items (1 926 305)
increased and are well above the 2002/03 produc-
tion level of 1 660 907 items.

(a) Psychological Services

To render need-based psychological services to
sentenced offenders and/or persons subject to
Community Corrections (persons under correctional
supervision and parolees) in order to improve their
mental health and emotional wellbeing to promote
the rehabilitation and re-integration of offenders into
the community.
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Table 18:  Key outputs, indicators and targets:  psychological services

Subprogramme Output Output measure/ indicator Target Actual
Development Provide psychological Number of individual 1 000 4 559 
Programmes services to offenders consultations

Number of individual 10 000 3 560
therapy sessions

Number of group therapy sessions 900 403

Number of family therapy sessions 200 46

Programme Policy Developments

A draft policy on Offender Care and Development
has been developed in line with the White Paper
and will form the broad framework to inform and
guide offender care and development and will

enable the DCS to create a humane environment
that promotes healing and reconciliation.  A draft
policy on Psychological Services has also been
reviewed and updated in line with the White Paper
to inform and guide psychological services in the
DCS.

Table 19: Main target groups and the number of persons seen

Target group Persons seen
2002/2003 2003/2004

Prisoners 8 438 6 260
Persons under Correctional Supervision 501 371
Parolees 40 30
Court referrals 410 304
Suicide risks 293 217
Groups 2925 2 170
Total 12 607 9 352

Table 20: The number of persons involved in main therapeutic activities

Therapeutic activity 2002/20032 2003/2004
Individual therapy 4 430 3 286
Group therapy 806 598 
Family therapy 117 86
Total 5 353 3 970

The numbers of persons seen is directly linked to
the number of psychologists available to render
services. The number of psychologists has
decreased from 31 in the previous year to 23 in the
current year and this has negatively affected service
delivery.  

(b) Education, Training, Sport and Recreation

Considerable progress was made during the year
under review with regard to the provision of
Education, Training, Sport and Recreation,
Production Workshops and Agricultural
Programmes.

Establishment of Partnerships

In its mission statement, the Department not only
recognises the need for partnerships but also com-
mits itself to delivery of rehabilitation through part-
nerships with various external stakeholders. In the
field of personal development, various partnership
agreements and formal working relationships have
been established with external providers to render
voluntary services in respect of Formal Education.

• UNISA/Department for Internal Development
The partnership with Unisa and DFID dates back
many years. The partnership aims at extending
ABET education opportunities to both the staff of
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the DCS and the offender population. Both
offenders and staff are extended the enviable
opportunity of enrolling as ABET practitioners to
offer ABET training to other offenders. During the
year under review, a total number of 347 bur-
saries were allocated to 329 offenders and 18
DCS officials.

• Re-educate Trust
The primary aim of this partner is to improve liter-
acy amongst disadvantaged people. The Trust
prides itself on many years of experience in both
child and adult education. With the courtesy of
the Vodacom Foundation, the Trust has enrolled a
total of 77 offenders, 22 of  whom  learned to be
re-educate instructors, 48 were provided with
refresher courses and 7 admitted as  re-educa-
tors.

• President's Award
The President's Award Programme is presented
to young offenders by correctional officials at 57
Correctional Centres with the aim of promoting
the social, psychological and physical well-being
of the learners, especially young offenders.
During the 2003 academic year, the following
number of offenders and officials were involved:
- Offenders: 7 215 AIDS Challenge
- Young Offender Programme: 2 683
- DCS Officials: 315

• National Skills Fund: Department of Labour
The Department of Labour (National Skills Fund)
allocated an amount of R13,1 million for the train-
ing of offenders in basic occupational skills.  A
total number of 16 833 offenders were trained
during the 2003 academic year.

National Prisoner Choir Competition

The 4th National Prisoner Choir Competition was
held at the Good Hope Centre in Cape Town on 8
May 2003.  Approximately 1 000 offenders from vari-
ous correctional centres countrywide participated in
this national event.  The competition created a plat-
form for offenders to express themselves and show-
case their musical talents.  The choir competition is
an important rehabilitative vehicle as it provides an
outlet for self-expression and a platform to show-
case artistic and musical talent.

Programmes presented

The following tables indicate the nature and extent
of the programmes presented during the 2002 and

2003 academic years.

Table 21: Number of offenders involved in Adult
Basic Education and Training (ABET) pro-
grammes

Period 2002 Academic year 2003 Academic year
Total 11 265 8 599

Table 22: Number of offenders involved in
Mainstream Education

Period 2002 Academic year 2003 Academic year
Total 6 460 4 841

Table 23: Number of offenders involved in corre-
spondence studies

Period 2002 Academic year 2003 Academic year
Total 2 379 4 686

Table 24: Number of offenders involved in voca-
tional training programmes

Period 2002 Academic year 2003 Academic year
Total 2 286 3 018

Table 25: Offenders involved in occupational
skills training programmes

Period 2002 Academic year 2003 Academic year
Total 13 795 16 833

Table 26: Total number of offenders involved in
education and training programmes

Year 2002 2003
Number of offenders 37 427 37 977

Vocational training implies theoretical and practical
training in respect of which a prisoner is eligible to
be assessed and issued with a qualification by the
relevant Sector Education and Training Authority
(SETA) or Institute for the National Development
Learnership, Employment Skills and Labour
Assessment (INDLELA). These include but are not
limited to the building, metal and electrical trades.

Production Workshops and Agricultural activities
promote the development and rehabilitation of
offenders and complement the support programmes
that assist them to improve their personal and social
functioning by providing them with training and
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employment opportunities.

The offenders' employment skills are developed by
involving them in a variety of production activities,
including farming, that also promotes self-sufficiency
at correctional centres. Other production activities
offered to offenders include work and skills training
in industrial workshops as well as maintenance work
on and improvements to correctional centres and
farms.

In order to promote productivity, measurable objec-
tives regarding the production of various agricultural
and production workshop products were set.

Despite adverse climatic conditions, (drought, espe-
cially in the Western Cape and Free State
provinces), a decline in prison labour and a short-
age of agricultural technical staff, the agricultural
section attained all the set measurable objectives
except in respect of fruit, pork and eggs. The short-
fall in funds budgeted to procure raw materials
impacted adversely on the production workshops,
especially the wood and steel sections.

The production in respect of the various agricultural
and production workshop products against the
measurable objectives were as follows:

Table 27:  Production in respect of agricultural and production workshops

Measure / indicators Product % Attained
Agricultural production Vegetables 102,7%

Fruit 95,2%
Red meat 99,8%

Milk 103,3%
Pork 95,9%

Chicken 112,4%
Eggs 87,8%

Number of workshop products Timber units 83,2% 
produced Textile units 91,7%

Steel units 68,9%

During the period under review, employment oppor-
tunities were provided to 36 898 offenders, whilst 
16 833 offenders were involved in training pro-
grammes. In production workshops vocational skills
training was provided to 3 018 offenders.

(c) Religious or Spiritual Care

Religious or Spiritual Care is a voluntary programme
aimed at contributing to the change in the offenders'
behaviour, based on the acceptable lifestyle, values
and norms of their faith community in order to
accomplish societal sanctioned ubuntu, reconcilia-
tion, healing and successful reintegration.

The spiritual care of the offender covers the broad
spectrum of his/her spiritual needs on a personal
and communal level.  The following spiritual care
programmes are available: large group gatherings,
small group sessions and personal interviews.

The communal experience of faith received attention
especially in the context of the greater group, and
the following constitute the primary objectives of the

provision of spiritual services:

• Fellowship in the greater group
• Expansion of knowledge of the faith
• The communal practice of Spiritual customs and

rituals.

Personal spiritual needs received special attention in
individual conversations and small group meetings
with the chaplain and/or spiritual workers and the
following were the intended objectives:

• The offender's experience of his/her punishment,
his/her adaptation to life in the correctional facility
and the process of leading him/her to a life free
from criminality.

• Support in times of crisis and with regard to prob-
lems pertaining to his/her faith.

• Recovery and maintenance of his/ her relation-
ship with him/herself, his/her marriage partner,
family, extended family and friends, the creator
and nature.
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• The establishment of a system of values and

norms.

•  Preparation for reintegration into the community
of faith.

The following structured programmes were offered
in all correctional facilities:

Alpha
A practical inter-denominational introduction to the
Christian faith, designed primarily for non-churchgo-
ers and new Christians.

New Life Behaviour Ministries
A comprehensive inter-denominational programme
to assist offenders to improve their own behaviour
as well as the behaviour of their family members. 

Evangelism Expansion 111 (Ee3)
An inter-denominational programme aimed at equip-
ping Christian offenders to share their faith effective-
ly with other offenders.

Scripture Union Life-skills Education
A programme to help young offenders with funda-
mental issues such as developing a work ethic,
resolving conflict without resorting to violence, con-
trolling anger and resisting the pressure to be part
of gangs.

Kairos-Project
An Inter-denominational spiritual care programme
aimed at reaching leaders (including gang leaders)
within correctional facilities with the gospel and
using them to witness to other offenders within the
facilities.

Other programmes aimed at establishing  the desire
to change  criminal behaviour and devotion to spiri-
tual practices include the following:

Spiritual Festivals
Provision was made for offenders to observe the
main Spiritual festivals and Holy Days such as
Ramadan, Eid, Passover, Deepavali, Good Friday
and Christmas.

Community involvement
The Department continues with community involve-

ment by encouraging  spiritual workers from differ-
ent faiths; NGO's and CBO's to render spiritual care
services to offenders.

Academic institutions which were involved and
assisted in the field of research, also presented
Bible correspondence courses for offenders and
delivered keynote addresses during workshops.

The Bible Society of South Africa donated Bibles to
the amount of R250 000 for distribution to offenders. 

The Gideon movement was also actively involved in
the distribution of Bibles to offenders. Spiritual litera-
ture, including the Qur'an was provided to offenders
through the spiritual workers.

The local spiritual community took responsibility for
the spiritual care of the probationers and parolees
who are serving their sentences in the community.
The local faith leaders were informed of the said
offenders and requested to assist them with their
reintegration into the community. This involvement
was also aimed at preventing recidivism and ensur-
ing the provision of after-care services.

Restorative Justice Week
The Department holds a Restorative Justice Week
every year in November where the focus is on repa-
ration and restoration. To create awareness amongst
personnel, offenders, victims, families and the com-
munity, DCS personnel and the community com-
memorated the 2003 Restorative Justice Week in all
six regions. Offenders were encouraged and moti-
vated to reach out to their victims to express their
remorse and seek their forgiveness. Chaplains,
social workers and other personnel worked together
to organize restorative justice events and workshops
with offenders and the community at various correc-
tional centres.

Service delivery was noticeably increased in respect
of the number of spiritual services, group sessions
and personal interviews. Service level standards
were set for each service rendered. Mechanisms are
in place to measure/monitor performance by means
of monthly reports from all chaplains and spiritual
workers.
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Table 28:  National totals on spiritual care activities from 1 April 2003 to 31 March 2004

Norm Standard Target Achieved
Number of spiritual services 36 335 45 245
Number of group sessions for followers according to the spiritual practices 28 879 39 371 
of the religion
Number of individual interviews in respect of spiritual care 51 520 71 841

(d) Social Work Services

The number of targeted sessions was 34 866 and
the Department managed to hold 103 380 sessions.

The increase in performance was due to the
employment of new social workers in the majority of
correctional centres that did not have social workers
before.

Table 29:  Sessions involving offenders

Programmes Number of sessions involving offenders
Alcohol dependence 2 124
Trauma 1 659
Sexual problems 1 687
Aggression 2 477
Drug dependence 1 659
Life-skills 8 354
Marriage and family care 21 766
HIV/AIDS 2 614
Orientation 7 017
Placement preparation 6 203
Supportive services 31 663
Other 16 157
Total 103 380

2.6.4 PROGRAMME 4: COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS

A. Purpose:

To administer the supervision of probationers and
parolees.

B. Measurable objective

To supervise persons subjected to community cor-
rections, in order to safeguard the community by
ensuring that these persons adhere to their proba-
tion and parole supervision conditions.

C. Service delivery objectives and indicators

During the year under review, spending on
Community Corrections increased by 6,4% .
Management of offenders through Community
Corrections reduces the per capita costs of offend-

ers for the Department, and if properly managed, it
facilitates re-integration. Problems do arise when
offenders abscond. However, the extent of abscond-
ing has been greatly reduced in recent years. The
trend shows that 7 036 and 5 413 offenders
absconded in 2000/01 and 2001/02 respectively,
compared to a total of 1 507 for the 2003/04 year. .

Tracing of absconders is one of the crucial manage-
ment responsibilities of the Community Corrections
division. Once traced, absconders are either
referred back to courts to receive alternative sen-
tences, or sent back to correctional centres to serve
the remainder of their sentences. The personnel
capacity in this regard remained a serious problem
during the 2003/04 financial year. 

Table 30 provides community corrections population
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figures and a breakdown of absconders by gender.
It also shows the total number of persons observing

court and parole conditions as opposed to those
that abscond. 

Table 30: Daily average community corrections population for the period 1 April 2003 to 31 March 2004 

Under Supervision Absconders
Category Male Female Male Female Total
Probationers 22 757 2 584 450 30 25 821
Parolees 47 148 1 065 1 007 20 49 240
Total 69 905 3 649 1 457 50 75 061

Table 31 indicates the average case load per super-
vising officer. It further demonstrates the remarkable

work done by these officials in tracking and tracing
absconders.

Table 31:  Average case load per supervising officer

Subprogramme Output Measure/Indicator Target Actual
Correctional and Supervision of Number of probationers 35 probationers 43 probationers 
Parole probationers and parolees per and parolees and parolees
Supervision and parolees supervisory officer per officer per officer

Percentage of total  54% 58%
absconders traced

2.6.5 PROGRAMME 5 : FACILITY MANAGEMENT AND 
CAPITAL WORKS

A. Purpose

To provide for the construction, maintenance and
upgrading of new and existing correctional centres
as well as for expenses in respect of the two public-
private partnership correctional centres.

B. Measurable objective

To establish and maintain correctional centre facili-
ties which are compatible with the accommodation
needs of offenders and meet the requirements for
effective supervision.

C. Service delivery objectives and indicators

Expenditure on this programme decreased by 8,7 %
relative to the 2002/03 financial year.

Delays were experienced during the planning
stages of capital projects that led to a decline in
capital expenditure. The result was an underspend-
ing of R136 227 000 on infrastructure mainly due to
the unforeseen requirement by the Treasury to fol-
low the process as outlined in the PPP Regulations.
A request has been made that this amount be rolled
over to the next financial year. 
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(a) Service delivery achievements:

Table 32:  Service delivery indicators

Sub-programme Output Measure/Indicator Target Actual
Capital Works Offender Number of additional 12 000 by the Delayed (see 
Projects accommodation offender places end of 2005/06 comment

on page 36)

Number of Correctional 33 Correctional 33 Correctional 
Centres being Centres in Centres have 

renovated 2003/04 been renovated

During the last quarter of the year the correctional
centres at Klerksdorp, Glencoe, Umzimkulu,
Cofimvaba and Benoni were under renovation and
work is expected to be completed during 2004/05.
There may be a slight delay in respect of the
Klerksdorp Correctional Centre due to the unavail-
ability of space in other facilities for the relocation of
inmates in order to enable the contractor do the
work. The current modus operandi is to give the
contractor a section at a time and to move inmates
into the completed section to make the next section
available.

No plans have been made to close facilities down,
however provision has been made for the temporary
closure of facilities for purposes of repair or upgrad-
ing.

The huge maintenance backlog can be ascribed to
the vast number of correctional centres and the
overcrowding and malicious damage caused by
inmates that puts great strain on the infrastructure
as well as on the available resources. Cuts in the
budget allocation due to other higher priorities places
further strain on the maintenance programme.

(b) Capital investment, maintenance and
asset management plan

Capital Investment

The following information reflects the Department's
performance in respect of its Capital Investment,
Maintenance and Asset Management Plan.

Table 33: Building projects that were in progress on 31 March 2003 and the expected dates of completion

Prison Project description Expected dates of completion 
Klerksdorp Upgrading and additions 2004/05
Glencoe Repair and renovations to correctional facilities 2004/05
Umzimkulu Repair and renovations to correctional facilities 2004/05
Cofinvaba Repair and renovations to correctional facilities 2004/05
Benoni Additional housing for personnel 2004/05
Klerksdorp New generation correctional facility 2005/06

The maintenance backlog at 31 March 2003
amounted to R 2 823 million and the Department
plans to attend to the backlog over the MTEF period
as indicated in the table below.

Table 34: The Department's plans to deal with the
maintenance backlog over the MTEF period

Financial year Amount 
2004/05 750 million
2005/06 1 107 million
2006/07 966 million
Total 2 823 million

The developments mentioned above will have no
negative impact on the Department's current expen-
diture as the bulk of the budget will be used for the
construction of new facilities and existing repair and
maintenance projects (RAMP).

Asset Management

The following measures were taken to ensure that
the Department's asset register remained up-to-date
during the period under review:

Since 1 December 2003, a process was com-
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menced to capture all the fixed moveable assets
(machinery and equipment) of the DCS on the Web
Asset Tool. These assets were previously adminis-
tered on the PAS 2.6 at an average unit price.
Capturing of assets on the Web Asset Tool is done
at an actual invoice price and until the 31st March
2004, this Department had managed to capture
21.5% of all fixed moveable assets in accordance
with the Asset Management Guideline. This is a con-
tinuous and ongoing process for as long as assets
are procured by, donated to and transferred to this
Department.

The current state of the Department's capital stock is
good. According to the Provisioning Administration
Service Manual of this Department regarding the
disposal of stock, it is prohibited to keep items in
stock that are in a bad condition.

The major maintenance projects undertaken during
the financial year were the Repair and Maintenance
Projects (RAMP). Follow-up contracts were entered
into in respect of 33 correctional centres in order to
address issues that could not be addressed in the
initial contracts. The initial contracts did not allow for
upgrading which is now included in follow-up con-
tracts. In respect of 146 correctional centres, only
legislative requirements pertaining to mechanical,
electrical and sewerage systems will be attended to.

The Department spent R258 million on these proj-
ects during the 2003/04 financial year.

The total asset holding of the Department did not
change significantly due to minor alterations and
additions that took place during the year under
review. The only significant changes were the addi-
tions at the Klerksdorp and Wolmaranstad facilities.

Table 35: Projects that will be carried over to the
next financial year

Project Budget R
Glencoe 705 037
Heidelberg 1 511 125
Kranskop 976 321
Benoni 2 917 907
Greytown 3 497 161

The tendering processes for capital works are done
by the Department of Public Works through the
State Tender Board. Expenditures involved are con-
sultants' fees, construction fees and the cost to pur-
chase land.

No funds will be rolled over from the existing budget
to the next financial year. The Department has made
provision in future budgets to maintain the infra-
structure created by the capital investment.
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3.1 Report of the Audit Committee
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THE AUDIT COMMITTEEUDIT COMMITTEE
3.1 Report of the Audit

Committee

3.1.1 Members of the Audit Committee and
Attendance

The Audit Committee consists of the members listed
hereunder and meets at least four times per annum
as per its approved terms of reference. During the
year 4 (four) meetings were held.

Member's name Number of 
meetings attended

M.E. Magondo (Chairperson) 4 
resigned in 02/2004
D.P. van der Nest 4
S.L. Machaba 3
S. Moodley 3
N.W. Tshivhase 4

Mr M R Sloane has been appointed as chairperson
of the audit committee after year end.

3.1.2 Audit Committee Responsibility

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied
with its responsibilities arising from Section (1) (a) of
the PFMA and Treasury Regulations 3.1.13, and has
followed and complied with its adopted charter and
has discharged all its responsibilities as contained
therein.

3.1.3 The Effectiveness of Internal Control

During the year under review internal and external
auditors reported some instances of non-compli-
ance, the majority of which were recurring items,
which indicated that there was a lack of enforce-

ment of approved internal controls. Whilst it was
recognised that some matters re-reported are of a
nature requiring protracted consultations with relat-
ed parties, the audit committee nonetheless com-
municated to management the disturbing factor that
in almost all reported instances of non-compliance,
the weakness confirmed a lack of supervisory com-
mitment on the part of management.

3.1.4 The Quality of in-year Management
and Monthly/Quarterly Reports
Submitted in Terms of the Act and the
Division of Revenue Act

The Committee is satisfied with the content and
quality of monthly and quarterly reports prepared
and issued by the Accounting Officer and the
Department during the year under review.

3.1.5 The Audit Committee has:

• Reviewed and discussed with the Auditor-General
and the Accounting Officer the audited annual
financial statements to be included in the annual 
report;

• Reviewed the Auditor-General's management let-
ter and management response;

• Reviewed significant unadjusted differences
resulting from the audit.

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the con-
clusions of the Auditor-General on the annual finan-
cial statements and is of the opinion that the audited
annual financial statements be accepted and read
together with the report of the Auditor-General.
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Part 4: Financial
Statements
4.1 Report by the Accounting Officer to

the Executive Authority and
Parliament of the Republic of South
Africa

4.2 Report of the Auditor-General to
Parliament on the financial state-
ments of vote 21 - Correctional
Services for the year ended 31 March
2004
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Officer to the Executive
Authority and Parliament of
the Republic of South Africa

4.1.1 General review of the state of finan-
cial affairs

Important policy decision and strategic issue fac-
ing the Department:

Long-term strategic policy

The draft White Paper on Corrections embodies the
Department of Correctional Services’ (DCS) long-
term strategic policy and operational framework that
recognises corrections as a societal responsibility
and puts rehabilitation at the centre of all the depart-
ment’s activities.  The department is required to
deliver focused quality services to all persons under
its care, create a working environment for officials
that is conducive to their role as rehabilitators and
substantially improve its management of relations
with accredited external stakeholders and oversight
authorities. The Department recognises the enor-
mous challenge it faces to change the profile of the
correctional official from that of a prison warder, per-
ceived to be prone to corrupt influences, to that of a
role model and rehabilitator. Developing the final
White Paper and delivering services according to its
principles will be a key priority over the next three
years.

The Department has gone through an extensive
restructuring exercise in the last two years, in order
to realign itself with the (draft) White Paper.
Although the new programme structure more accu-
rately reflects the department’s position, the trans-
formation is not complete and the composition of
subprogrammes is subject to change.

Significant events/projects that have taken place
during the financial year

Gearing the Department of Correctional Services
(DCS) for Rehabilitation

Strategies have been adopted to balance the need
for security with the need for conditions that are
conducive to rehabilitation. The “Gearing the DCS
for Rehabilitation” project was introduced in
2002/03, which involved a substantial review of
rehabilitation, organization and identified key service

delivery areas such as corrections, development,
security, care, facilities and after-care. This compre-
hensive approach as continued during the 2003/04
financial year entails all aspects of the Department’s
core business, and requires developing new policy
regarding the types of correctional programmes
offered and the recruitment and training of
Correctional Services personnel.

To accommodate the required changes, the depart-
ment has adopted a unit management approach in
Correctional Centres. Correctional Centres are divid-
ed into smaller, more manageable units, which
encourage the management of the offender, as
opposed to the management of the prison.

To enhance correction, development and after-care
programmes, the Department’s approach to rehabil-
itation is based on the principles of restoration, with
the aim of enabling offenders to make amends to
their victims and the community in order to bring
about a greater sense of healing and community
safety, and to facilitate the social re-integration of
offenders.

Societal responsibility

The Department is positioning itself at a tertiary level
of intervention (the primary level being the family,
and the secondary level the community) aiming at
encouraging families and communities to recognise
their strategic roles in nation-building in general and
in corrections in particular.  One of the main chal-
lenges is restoring cohesion at family and communi-
ty levels. The Department continues to promote and
strengthen partnerships with communities through
imbizos. These allow communities to raise their con-
cerns and take note of departmental activities.

Remission and Parole Boards

The Correctional Services Amendment Act (Act 32
of 2001), which makes provision for the establish-
ment of community-based Correctional Supervision
and Parole Boards, was promulgated on 7
December 2002. The boards will make decisions
about the conditional and unconditional release of
offenders. These boards will also make provision for
stakeholders’ participation as community represen-
tatives will be involved in board sessions, victims or
their next-of-kin will be able to make representations
and other criminal justice system departments will
be represented on the boards.
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Good governance

To promote good governance, the President
appointed the Jali Commission and a team of
experts from the Department of Justice and
Constitutional Development’s Special Investigating
Unit to investigate corruption, maladministration, vio-
lence and intimidation in prisons. In addition to the
ongoing work of the commission and the team, dur-
ing 2003/04 the department established its own
Investigation Unit and Code Enforcement direc-
torates. The work of these investigation-focused ini-
tiatives is complemented by management’s respon-
sibilities in respect of the prevention of corruption. 

Spending trends

Parliament has voted an amount of R7,677,021 mil-
lion on the budget Vote of the Department for the
2003/04 financial year. This allocation was reduced
by R156,598 million during the 2003/04 financial
year through the Adjusted Estimate of National
Expenditure, as a nett result of an amount of
R200,105 million that was surrendered back to the
National Treasury, due to delays experienced during
the planning stages of Capital projects and an addi-
tional allocation of R43,507 million consisting of
R15,734 million for personnel related inflation
adjustment, R26,8 million for inmate related expen-
diture, R833 thousand for inmate gratuities and
R140 thousand for donations received. This
brought the total budget allocation for this
Department to R7,520,423 million compared to 
R7,026,833 million in the 2002/03 financial year.

The Department’s final state of expenditure for the
2003/04 financial year was R7,387,110 million, an
increase of 4,5 percent as compared to the expendi-
ture of R7,068,475 million for the 2002/03 financial
year.

The National Treasury has been requested to roll
over a saving to the amount of R133,313 million for
the 2003/04 financial year (There was no roll-over
application for the 2002/03 financial year due to
overspending of R41,642 million).

Personnel expenditure increased by an average of 6
percent, from R4,728 million in 2002/03 to R5,031
million in the 2003/04 financial year, which was due
to the annual salary adjustment of 8,5 percent and
pay progression/notch increase of 1 percent on
basic salaries during the 2003/04 financial year.

Over the medium-term this category of expenditure
will continue to dominate (65%) the total vote due to
the personnel-intensive nature of the Department.

With regard to rehabilitation, the expenditure in
respect of offenders has increased from R352,218
million in the 2002/03 financial year to R387,281
million in the 2003/04 financial year. Expenditure on
key departmental priorities like rehabilitation and
physical care of offenders is being hampered by the
capacity to recruit suitable personnel like psycholo-
gists, social workers and nurses.

The main reasons for over and under spending on
programmes and standard items are due to:

• The impact of price increases.
• The higher cost associated with data processing

and repair and maintenance of Information
Technology infrastructures.

• No agreement reached with labour with regard to
the down-management of overtime payment.

• Backdated billing of GG Transport in the Western
Cape from the Provincial Department of Transport
as far back as the 1998/99 financial year.

• Delayed tenders and contracts with regard to
equipment (Inmate Tracking and Information
Technology, etc).

• Re-prioritisation and down-management of
expenditure.

• Under spending of capital due to delays experi-
enced during the planning stages of Capital proj-
ects.

4.1.2 Services rendered by the Department

List of services

The aim of the Department of Correctional Services
is to contribute towards maintaining and protecting
a just, peaceful and safe society by enforcing court-
imposed sentences, detaining prisoners in safe cus-
tody and promoting the social responsibility and the
development of all prisoners and persons subject to
community corrections by:

• Providing safe and healthy conditions consistent
with human dignity for all persons incarcerated,
and thereby providing security for both personnel
and the public. 

• Providing needs-based correctional sentence
plans for all persons who have been sentenced to
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community correctional supervision or incarcera-
tion in a Correctional Centre and paroled offend-
ers, based on the assessed security risk and
criminal profile of individuals, focusing on the
individual’s specific offence, and targeting all ele-
ments associated with the offending behaviour/s. 

• Maintaining the well-being of incarcerated per-
sons by providing for physical fitness, nutrition,
and social links with family and society, spiritual
and moral well-being, psychological well-being
and health care, based on their needs.

• Providing opportunities for social development
including vocational and technical training, recre-
ation, sports and education opportunities as well
as the development of a social conscience, to
promote the development of personal and social
competencies that will enable incarcerated
offenders to reintegrate into communities as pro-
ductive citizens.

• Providing services to persons completing their
sentences, to facilitate their effective reintegration
into their communities and to promote general
social acceptance of offenders.

• Providing, maintaining and upgrading the physi-
cal infrastructure required by both offenders and
staff; aiming at ensuring that facilities are avail-
able to meet the Department’s rehabilitation
responsibilities and objectives.

• Providing the administrative, management, finan-
cial, ICT (information communication technology),
service evaluation, investigative and support func-
tions required for all service delivery by the
department and in support of the function of the
Ministry.

Tariff policy

All the tariffs are calculated according to the applica-
ble inflation rate for the period under review and in
each case various role players are consulted in this
regard to give their inputs.  This information is then
consolidated and if there are any changes to the tar-
iff structure it is submitted to the National Treasury
for approval, whereafter the tariffs are implemented.
As there were no changes to the tariff structure for
the 2003/04 financial year, the current tariffs were
revised, the information consolidated and submitted
to the Accounting Officer (National Commissioner)
for approval.

Free Services

The total expenditure incurred for free services

amounts to R27,648 million. This consist of salary
compensation of R27,483 million to 338 officials
working directly with Clubs and Messes and also
R165 thousand for 1 (one) official in the Head
Office Bio Kinetics Centre.

Inventories

Stocktaking took place at all stores within the
Department and costing was done according to the
weighted average method. The following categories
and values reflect the inventories on hand as at 31
March 2004:

CURRENT
Categories: R’000
Stationery 27,471
Medical supplies and related items 7,050
Maintenance material 13,912
Uniform/clothing 183,108
Bedding/linen 9,573
Cleaning material 11,693
Provisions 65,424
Raw material 95,856
Livestock 28,004

TOTAL 442,091

CAPITAL
Categories:
Furniture/equipment 24,773
Firearms/ammunition 5,936

TOTAL 30,709

GRAND TOTAL 472,800

4.1.3 Capacity constraints

Overcrowding (Insufficient prisoner accommoda-
tion)

The problem of offender overcrowding remains the
most important influence on the Department’s costs
and performance, especially in relation to rehabilita-
tion.  At the end of March 2004, overcrowding was
at 63,5 per cent – that is a total offender population
(sentenced and unsentenced) of approximately 
187 640 was being accommodated in a system
designed for 114 787 offenders.  The daily average
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offender population is projected to increase to 
188 100 inmates in 2004/05, to 195 300 in 2005/06
and 202 400 in 2006/07.

A notable factor is the awaiting-trial and awaiting-
sentence detainee population.  Despite decreases in
this population in the last three years, at the end of
March 2004 there were 53 876 awaiting-trial and
awaiting-sentence detainees in DCS Correctional
Centres – approximately 28,7 per cent of the total
offender population.

Another notable factor is the increase in long-term
sentence offenders that has significantly increased
the capacity pressure in respect of sentenced
offenders.

To address these challenges, the Department imple-
mented a number of strategies:

• The building and staffing of new Correctional
Centres, designed cost-effectively.

• The finalisation of procurement models for
Correctional Centres.

• The DCS is co-operating with other departments
in the Integrated Justice System (IJS), notably the
Department of Justice and Constitutional
Development, on a range of projects to reduce
the number of awaiting-trial detainees.

• The DCS is also promoting awareness in the IJS
of alternative sentencing options and diversion
programmes (from the Criminal Justice System).

• A Justice, Crime Prevention and Security Cluster
task team on overcrowding, established at the
end of 2002, monitors the Criminal Justice
System to identify and eliminate the blockages
that result in increased inmate numbers.

• In September 2003, in order to alleviate over-
crowding, Cabinet approved the advancement by
nine months of the parole date of certain cate-
gories of sentenced offenders. This immediately
reduced the offender population by approximately
7 000 inmates.

Human Resource Capacity

The transformation of the Department from an insti-
tution for the management of incarceration to an
institution that is focused on the rehabilitation and
development of offenders, made the human
resource capacity inadequate, both in terms of train-
ing capacity, personnel numbers and funded posts.
The total number of posts filled on 31 March 2004

was 35 669 out of an approved establishment of 
48 674.

In order to improve the human resource capacity to
enable the Department to fulfil its mandate, the fol-
lowing strategies are in the process of development
/ implementation:

• A recruitment and retention strategy.
• Revision and improvement of the recruitment poli-

cy and procedure.
• Inception of a seven-day, four-shift-day establish-

ment.
• Establishment of salary parity with the SAPS
• Reviewal of salary and other benefits for entry

level and professional staff.
• Development of a Promotion policy.
• Skills development strategy.
• Framework to enhance employee well-being.
• Negotiations with the National Treasury for addi-

tional personnel funds.

4.1.4 Utilisation of donor funds

A donation of R107,625 thousand was received
from the Rollins School of Public Health of the
Emroy University to do research on a post-apartheid
study of prison health issues in South Africa. The
purpose of this donation was to make funds avail-
able to this Department in order to appoint a con-
sultant on a contract basis to assist with the admin-
istration of survey questionnaires. This donation was
paid into the relevant revenue fund and was
requested during the Adjusted Estimate process
during the 2003/04 financial year.

The Foundation for Human Rights made R161,494
thousand available to the Department to ensure that
inmates are afforded the basic right to lodge com-
plaints with correctional authorities in compliance
with the Correctional Services Act and the United
Nations Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment
of Offenders and to monitor this process. This dona-
tion was made available to this Department during
the Adjustment Estimate process for the 2002/03
financial year.

4.1.5. Other organizations to which transfer
payments have been made

In accordance with the Skills Development Act (No.
97 of 1998), an amount of R2,514 million was trans-
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ferred to POSLECSETA during the year under
review.

4.1.6. Public/Private Partnerships (PPP)

PPP’s the Department has entered into

In terms of the Asset Procurement and Operating
Partnership System (APOPS), two Correctional
Centres were constructed and are currently operat-
ed by private companies, namely:

• The Mangaung Maximum Security Prison
(Bloemfontein), and

• The Kutama-Senthumule Maximum Security
Prison (Makhado)

Reasons for their existence

APOPS is aimed at providing offender accommoda-
tion by means of joint venture prisons. The above-
mentioned two contracts jointly provide additional
accommodation for 5 952 offenders. 

Accountability arrangements

All aspects of the relationship are governed by a
concession contract (together with schedules)
entered into between the Government, through the
DCS and the private sector. A Correctional Services
Controller monitors contract compliance on a daily
basis.

This official who is based at the site of the privately
operated Correctional Centres provides DCS Head
Office with reports on the operation of the prison
with specific reference to contract compliance. The
Department’s APOPS Directorate, now incorporated
into the Contract Management Directorate, acts as a
regulatory body that manages these contracts with
the assistance of the Controller.

Effectiveness of the partnership

The APOPS initiative is to provide offender accom-
modation and services more economically, effective-
ly and efficiently. It alleviates overcrowding in
Correctional Centres and improves conditions for
rehabilitation. APOPS set out to improve efficiency
in service delivery, to transfer risk to the private sec-
tor and  to utilise persons with appropriate  skills
from the private sector for  the benefit of the
Department.

Financial arrangements

A daily contract fee per available inmate place was
paid over to the private companies to operate the
two Correctional Centres on a monthly basis. Total
costs incurred by the Department in respect of the
private companies for the 2003/04 financial year
amounted to R491,311 million.

4.1.7. Corporate governance arrangements

Within the Department, the Directorates Internal
Audit and the Inspectorate serve to ensure sound
corporate governance.

The Department’s Risk Assessment and Fraud
Prevention Plan, which was developed through a
consultative process, is being implemented.
Embedded in each senior manager’s performance
contract is compliance with existing policies and
internal controls. The Internal Audit Directorate
developed the risk management evaluation strategy,
the implementation of which in the 2003/04 financial
year, increased the directorate’s efficiency. The
Internal Audit approach is risk based and therefore
addresses issues that have the potential to destabi-
lize the Department.

Internal Audit’s focus on appraising internal controls
is significant and underlies the basis of its opera-
tions. The focus areas in the coverage plans ensure
that management’s involvement in control issues is
not the only objective but also ensures that man-
agement takes ownership of and ensures full com-
pliance with set systems of internal control.

The Department has an Audit Committee that is one
of the governance systems to provide oversight of
risk and to control processes administered by the
Department.

The Directorates’ Investigation Unit, Inspectorate
and Code Enforcement Unit also serve as gover-
nance structures in that they promote credible and
transparent administration, efficient and effective uti-
lization of resources as well as prevent fraud and
disclose non-compliance with directives by means
of hands-on regularity inspections

Provincial Inspectors are responsible for conducting
detailed inspections in Management Areas, while
the National Head Office component does the fol-
low-up inspections after finalisation of the detailed
inspections.
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The Department is engaged in a project with the
Special Investigative Unit and the Jali Commission.
The Department of Public Service and
Administration and the United Nations Office of
Drugs and Crime have conducted an audit on the
nature and scope of corruption within the
Department of Correctional Services. These audits
have largely contributed to exposing corrupt activi-
ties and penalising guilty parties.. The
Commissioner has approved a National Anti-
Corruption Strategy for the Department. 

The Department has an internal unit to investigate
cases of fraud and other dishonest practices. As a
result of restructuring, this Anti-Corruption Unit has
now been incorporated with the Departmental
Investigation Unit and also focuses on preventative
measures and advises management in this regard.
In cases where transgressions constitute a criminal
offence, cases are handed over to the South African
Police Services (SAPS) for criminal investigation.

4.1.8. New / proposed activities

The Department of Correctional Services has moved
from the re-conceptualising of rehabilitation to iden-
tifying key service delivery areas to offenders,
departmental responsibilities to correctional officials
as well as key external relationships necessary for
delivery in respect of the Department’s mandate. 

The budget of the DCS for the 2003/04 financial
year was therefore formulated to execute the follow-
ing key departmental objectives:-

The correction of offenders’ behaviour by means of
assessing offenders and the development of a cor-
rectional service plan for each offender.

The provision of development services to offenders
by focussing on their social development and con-
science and the provision of vocational and techni-
cal training and opportunities for education.

The provision of security services that focus on safe
and healthy conditions of detention for all persons
under its care and the protection of staff, inmates
and the public.

The provision of care services aimed at the mainte-
nance of the well-being of persons under the care of
the Department, by means of providing nutrition and
health care services and the provision of social, spir-

itual and psychological support programmes to
offenders.

The provision of after-care services focussed on the
preparation of offenders for their release in order to
facilitate their effective reintegration into the commu-
nity. 

The provision of the minimum infrastructure required
by the Department to fulfil its rehabilitation objec-
tives.

4.1.9. Progress in respect of the improve-
ment of financial management.

Implementation of the PFMA and relevant finan-
cial legislation

The Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of
1999 as amended) has been implemented within
the Department.  However, the implementation of
this Act is an ongoing process because of the per-
sonnel turnover and amendments that are made to
the Act and / or Treasury Regulations by the
National Treasury on a continuous basis.

The Department has phased in requirements as pre-
scribed by the National Treasury for  the develop-
ment of the full accrual basis of accounting and  has
further amended its procedural framework in accor-
dance with the implementation of the new Basic
Accounting System (BAS).

Initiatives for the improvement of Financial
Management

During the year under review, the Department’s
financial administrative support team formed a spe-
cial forum called the Regional Accountants’ Work
Session that held several meetings throughout the
year with specific focus on the following issues:

• Expenditure Control,
• Budget related matters,
• Cash flow management support, and
• General financial management support controls

and good practices.

Barriers / Problem Areas

The following barriers hindered some of the financial
improvement initiatives:

• Decentralization of certain financial management
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functions and levels of authority that sometimes
caused delays in the flow of work.

• A high personnel turnover that necessitated train-
ing and re-training of staff, and also resulted in
vacancies in financial management and support
posts.

4.1.10. Performance information

Refer to Part 2 of the Department’s Annual Report
for the 2003/04 financial year.

4.1.11 Approval

The annual financial statements set out on pages 52
to 94 have been approved by the Accounting
Officer.

COMMISSIONER: CORRECTIONAL SERVICES
LM MTI

DATE: 28 May 2004
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4.2.1. AUDIT ASSIGNMENT

The financial statements as set out on pages 52 to
94, for the year ended 31 March 2004, have been
audited in terms of section 188 of the Constitution of
the Republic of South Africa, 1996  (Act No. 108 of
1996), read with sections 3 and 5 of the Auditor-
General Act, 1995 (Act No. 12 of 1995). These finan-
cial statements, the maintenance of effective control
measures and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations are the responsibility of the accounting
officer. My responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements, based on the audit.

4.2.2. NATURE AND SCOPE

Except as discussed in subparagraph 3.1, the audit
was conducted in accordance with the Statements of
South African Auditing Standards. Those standards
require that I plan and perform the audit to obtain rea-
sonable assurance that the financial statements are
free of material misstatement.

An audit includes:

• examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments,

• assessing the accounting principles used and sig-
nificant estimates made by management, and

• evaluating the overall financial statement presenta-
tion.

Furthermore, an audit includes an examination, on a
test basis, of evidence supporting compliance in all
material respects with the relevant laws and regula-
tions which came to my attention and are applicable
to financial matters.

I believe that the audit provides a reasonable basis
for my opinion.

4.2 REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE FINAN-
CIAL STATEMENTS OF VOTE 21 – CORRECTIONAL SERVICES FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2004

4.2.3 QUALIFICATION

Medical expenditure

With reference to paragraph 3.1 on page 101 of the
previous report [RP170/2003], my office could again
not perform audit procedures to verify the validity,
accuracy and completeness of the total amount of
R630 million (2002-03 : R681 million) paid to Medcor,
mainly due to the following:

• Invoices were paid on face value against insuffi-
cient supporting documentation.

• The department still had no system in place to val-
idate the accuracy of monthly payments to
Medcor.

• An agreement between the department and
Medcor indicating the financial responsibilities and
commitments of each party still did not exist.

In the absence of supporting documentation at the
department it was not possible to perform alternative
audit procedures.

The forensic investigation under the control of the
National Prosecuting Authority with regard to the
submission of excessive claims by members and
service providers was still in progress. Progress to
date are as follows:

• Seven medical practitioners have been arrested.
• Nine medical practitioners were placed under

investigation.
• Nine members of the department were also placed

under investigation.

4.2.4. QUALIFIED AUDIT OPINION

In my opinion, except for the effect on the financial
statements of the matter referred to in subparagraph
3.1, the financial statements fairly present, in all mate-
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rial respects, the financial position of correctional
services at 31 March 2004 and the results of its oper-
ations and cash flows for the year then ended, in
accordance with prescribed accounting practice and
in the manner required by the Public Finance
Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) [PFMA].

4.2.5. EMPHASIS OF MATTER

Without further qualifying the audit opinion expressed
above, attention is drawn to the following matters:

Internal control

With reference to paragraph 5.2.2 on page 104 of my
previous report [RP170/2003], internal control short-
comings were again revealed.  This is a matter that
had been reported on for the past 3 years.  Although
the accounting officer had a documented system of
internal control in place, the following deficiencies
were revealed:

(a) A lack of independent reviews by management to
enforce policies, and inadequate/untimely train-
ing, resulted in the following:

• Differences when comparing leave taken
according to the attendance register, leave
register, leave form and Persal.

• Leave credits on Persal did not always corre-
spond with leave records.

• Leave taken was not always supported by
approved leave forms.

• Control accounts (receivables) not followed
up on a regular basis.

• Inaccurate/incomplete asset registers.
• Various assets on the asset register not phys-

ically verified.
• Various differences were detected between

the Provisional Administration System and
the actual stock.

• Insufficient control over the access to com-
puter equipment and data backups.

(b) Cases of non-compliance with laws and regula-
tions, e.g.:

• Non-compliance with the Basic Conditions of
Employment Act, 1997 (Act No. 75 of 1997)
relating to overtime.

• Insufficient control over the safeguarding and
authorised use of vehicles.

• Incomplete bar-coding of assets.

(c) Some inadequacies in the documented policies
and procedures.

With reference to paragraph 4 of the Resolutions of
the Standing Committee on Public Accounts for
2003, One-Hundred-and-Twenty-First Report, internal
audit has improved.  The vacancy problem was
addressed by contracting in staff to obtain sufficient
coverage of their audit plan.  For the year under
review, I have relied on the work of internal audit.  As
a result, duplication of audit coverage in the regional
audits was avoided.  Further reliance in other areas
will be considered in future audits.

Judge White Commission

With reference to paragraph 5.2.6 on page 111 of the
previous report [RP 170/2003], the follow-up audit of
the recovery of salaries overpaid to the approximate-
ly 901 officials not involved in court cases, still
revealed the following:

• Minimal progress with the recovery of debts.
• Uncertainty in the calculation of the amounts over-

paid.
• Deductions not yet implemented.
• Incomplete records of letters of debt confirmation.

Insufficient control over the commission’s findings,
the long period already elapsed and the undue delay
in recoveries could lead to financial losses for the
department.  As a result the recoverable amounts
have not been included in staff debtors.

Information Systems Audit (ISA)

A follow-up high-level information systems audit was
completed in June 2004.  The most serious weak-
nesses identified during the audit were as follows:

• Orders for network software licences placed via
the State Information Technology Agency (SITA)
either overlapped or expired at different dates, as
a result of which maintenance costs might be
duplicated or the department might not always
have support for the products.

• The department did not have a service level agree-
ment (SLA) for the maintenance and support of the
network software. Services could thus not be
measured against defined expectations.

• Although the SLA for hardware maintenance
between the department and the supplier was sub-
ject to the stipulations in the contract between SITA
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and the supplier, the department was not able to
obtain a signed copy of the SITA contract and might
therefore not be aware of all the stipulations and
services to be rendered in terms of the agreement.

• The department should review licensing arrange-
ments with its software suppliers.

With reference to paragraph 5.2.7 on page 111 of the
previous report [RP 170/2003], the project undertaken
to implement a database together with a new version
of an application development tool in Gauteng was
stopped before it could be implemented countrywide.
This had a severe impact on departmental activities;
i.e. two systems needed to be maintained, resulting in:

• the data of Gauteng and the other regions being
incompatible,

• support and maintenance fees amounting to 
R989 928 were paid for countrywide usage
although it was only used in Gauteng, and

• the majority of new servers acquired at a total cost
of R12 413 955 had not yet been distributed to the
regions as the rollout of these servers was planned
to coincide with the countrywide implementation of
the application development tool.

Performance audit

A performance audit on the supply of uniforms to

members and clothing to prisoners at the
Department of Correctional Services was conducted
during the year under review.  Appropriate reporting
will be done in due course.

Progress with SCOPA Resolution and previously
reported matters

Further to the matters specifically reported above, my
audit findings on the progress made with previously
reported matters and the SCOPA Resolutions, One-
Hundred-and-Twenty-First Report, 2003 is attached as
annexure A of this report.

4.2.6. APPRECIATION

The assistance rendered by the staff of the depart-
ment during the audit is sincerely appreciated.

SA Fakie
Auditor-General

Pretoria
29 July 2004
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ANNEXURE A

PROGRESS MADE WITH PREVIOUSLY REPORTED MATTERS AND SCOPA RESOLUTIONS

Reference to pre-
vious audit report
and SCOPA reso-
lutions

Subject Findings on progress

Audit report:
Paragraph 5.1.1 on
page 102

Unauthorised and
irregular expendi-
ture, R42 007 000

No unauthorised expenditure reported for the 2003-04 financial year.
Unauthorised expenditure (overspending of budget) for the previ-
ous year not yet approved.

Audit report:
Paragraph 5.2.1 on
page 103

Financial man-
agement
(Finance)

Vacancies still exist as a result of the restructuring in the
Department.  Refer to the Management Report : Human Resource
Capacity, paragraph 3 on page 46.

Audit report:
Paragraph 5.2.1 on
page 103

Financial man-
agement
(Internal audit)

Internal audit has improved during the year under review.  Capacity
problems were addressed by contracting in staff.

Audit report:
Paragraph 5.2.3
on page 106

SCOPA:
Paragraph 3 and 5

Personnel expen-
diture (Leave,
vacancies, qualifi-
cations) as well
as merit awards·

• The internal controls in respect of salaries, allowances and deduc-
tions have improved and it remains an ongoing matter for improve-
ment.

• The control over leave is still inadequate.
• The filling of vacancies is not yet resolved.
• With regard to the results of the special task team investigating

possible fraudulent qualifications, no feedback was received. This
was followed up in a letter dated 30 January 2004 to the
Department.

Feedback from the department indicated that on 10 May 2004
SCOPA was informed on the following progress:
• The verification of qualifications was taken over by the section

Remuneration Control during October 2003 that is currently work-
ing on this issue.

• Contract workers have been appointed to assist in the handling of
this project.

• Copies of all qualifications had to be made for referral to the vari-
ous educational institutions.

• A database is also used to determine the progress on each quali-
fication so that record can be kept of the progress on each qualifi-
cation.

• Foreign qualifications need to be referred to South African
Qualifications Authority.

• The department is in the process with the sorting out of the various
qualifications for referral to the various institutions.

Progress in respect to the department’s report back to SCOPA on the
merit awards could not be confirmed at the date of this report.
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Audit report:
Paragraph 5.2.4
on page 110

Prison pharma-
cies

The internal controls in respect of prison pharmacies are still con-
sidered to be inadequate. This has been taken up in my final man-
agement letter to the department.

Audit report:
Paragraph 5.2.5
on page 111

Asset Procure-
ment and Opera-
ting Partnership
System (APOPS)

A work study exercise was conducted with regard to the staff estab-
lishment.  Sufficient staff will be made available to act as controllers.
The department is following up on discrepancies with regard to
daily reports.  See paragraph 4.1.6 of the Management Report, on
page 47.

SCOPA:
Paragraph 1

Corruption and
overcrowding of
prisons

With reference to paragraph 4.1.3 on page 45 of the Management
Report the overcrowding of prisons is stated to remain at 64%.

SCOPA:
Paragraph 2

Medical services -
Administrator

Medcor is now functioning as a medical aid scheme and the admin-
istrator had been appointed.

Reference to pre-
vious audit report
and SCOPA reso-
lutions

Subject Findings on progress
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The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the following policies, which have
been applied consistently in all material respects,
unless otherwise indicated.  However, where appro-
priate and meaningful, additional information has
been disclosed to enhance the usefulness of the
financial statements and to comply with the statutory
requirements of the Public Finance Management Act,
Act 1 of 1999 (as amended by Act 29 of 1999), the
Treasury Regulations for Departments and
Constitutional Institutions issued in terms of the Act.

1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a
modified cash basis of accounting, except where
stated otherwise.  The modified cash basis consti-
tutes the cash basis of accounting supplemented
with additional disclosures.  The reporting entity is in
transition from reporting on a cash basis of account-
ing to reporting on an accrual basis of accounting.
Under the cash basis of accounting transactions and
other events are recognised when cash is received or
paid.  Under the accrual basis of accounting transac-
tions and other events are recognised when incurred
and not when cash is received or paid.

2. Revenue

Voted funds are the amounts appropriated to a
department in accordance with the final budget
known as the Adjusted Estimates of National
Expenditure.  Unexpended voted funds are annually
surrendered to the National Revenue Fund.

Interest and dividends received are recognised upon
receipt of the funds, and no accrual is made for inter-
est or dividends receivable from the last receipt date
to the end of the reporting period.  They are recog-
nised as revenue in the financial statements of the
department and then transferred annually to the
National Revenue Fund.

3. Donor aid

Donor aid is recognised in the income statement in
accordance with the cash basis of accounting.

4. Current expenditure

Current expenditure is recognised in the income
statement when the payment is made.

5. Unauthorised, irregular and fruitless
and wasteful expenditure

Unauthorised expenditure means:

• the overspending of a vote or a main division with-
in a vote, or

• expenditure that was not made in accordance with
the purpose of a vote or, in the case of a main divi-
sion, not in accordance with the purpose of the
main division.

Unauthorised expenditure is treated as a current
asset in the balance sheet until such expenditure is
recovered from a third party or funded from future
voted funds.

Irregular expenditure means expenditure, other than
unauthorised expenditure, incurred in contravention
of or not in accordance with a requirement of any
applicable legislation, including:
• the Public Finance Management Act,
• the State Tender Board Act, or any regulations

made in terms of this act.

Irregular expenditure is treated as expenditure in the
income statement.

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expendi-
ture that was made in vain and would have been
avoided had reasonable care been exercised.
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure must be recovered
from a responsible official (a debtor account should
be raised), or the vote if responsibility cannot be
determined.  It is treated as a current asset in the bal-
ance sheet until such expenditure is recovered from
the responsible official or funded from future voted
funds.

6. Debts written off

Debts are written off when identified as irrecoverable.
Debts written-off are limited to the amount of surplus
funds available to the department.  No provision is
made for irrecoverable amounts.

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND RELATED MATTERS
for the year ended 31 March 2004
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7. Capital expenditure

Expenditure for physical items on hand on 31 March
2004 to be consumed in the following financial year,
is written off in full when they are received and are
accounted for as expenditure in the income state-
ment.

8. Receivables

Receivables are not normally recognised under the
cash basis of accounting.  However, receivables
included in the balance sheet arise from cash pay-
ments that are recoverable from another party.

Receivables for services delivered are not recognised
in the balance sheet as a current asset or as income
in the income statement, as the financial statements
are prepared on a cash basis of accounting, but are
disclosed separately as part of the disclosure notes
to enhance the usefulness of the financial state-
ments.

9. Payables

Payables are not normally recognised under the cash
basis of accounting.  However, payables included in
the balance sheet arise from cash receipts that are
due to the National Revenue Fund or another party.

10.  Provisions

A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount.
Provisions are not normally recognised under the
cash basis of accounting, but are disclosed sepa-
rately as part of the disclosure notes to enhance the
usefulness of the financial statements.

11. Lease commitments

Lease commitments for the period remaining from
the accounting date until the end of the lease con-
tract are disclosed as part of the disclosure notes to
the financial statements.  These commitments are not
recognised in the balance sheet as a liability or as
expenditure in the income statement as the financial
statements are prepared on the cash basis of
accounting.

12. Accruals

This amount represents goods / services that have
been delivered, but no invoice has been received
from the supplier at year end, OR an invoice has

been received but remains unpaid at year end.
These amounts are not recognised in the balance
sheet as a liability or as expenditure in the income
statement as the financial statements are prepared
on a cash basis of accounting, but are however dis-
closed as part of the disclosure notes.

13. Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits is
expensed in the income statement in the reporting
period when the payment is made.  Short-term
employee benefits, that give rise to a present legal or
constructive obligation, are deferred until they can be
reliably measured and then expensed.  Details of
these benefits and the potential liabilities are dis-
closed as a disclosure note to the financial state-
ments and are not recognised in the income state-
ment.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised and expensed
only when the payment is made.

Retirement benefits

The department provides retirement benefits for its
employees through a defined benefit plan for gov-
ernment employees.  These benefits are funded by
both employer and employee contributions.
Employer contributions to the fund are expensed
when money is paid to the fund.  No provision is
made for retirement benefits in the financial state-
ments of the department.  Any potential liabilities are
disclosed in the financial statements of the National
Revenue Fund and not in the financial statements of
the employer department.

Medical benefits

The department provides medical benefits for (cer-
tain/all) its employees through defined benefit plans.
These benefits are funded by employer and / or
employee contributions.  Employer contributions to
the fund are expensed when money is paid to the
fund. No provision is made for medical benefits in the
financial statements of the department.

Retirement medical benefits for retired members are
expensed when the payment is made to the fund.



DCS Annual Report 2003/04 59

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONAL SERVICES (VOTE 21)

STATEMENTSMENTS
14. Recoverable revenue

Recoverable revenue represents payments made
and recognised in the income statement as an
expense in previous years due to non-performance in
accordance with an agreement, which have now
become recoverable from a debtor. Repayments are
transferred to the Revenue Fund as and when the
repayment is received.

15. Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been
adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the
current year. The comparative figures shown in these
financial statements are limited to the figures shown
in the previous year's audited financial statements
and such other comparative figures that the depart-
ment may reasonably have available for reporting.
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REVENUE
Voted funds 7,520,423 7,073,452

Annual Appropriation 1 7,520,423 7,026,833
Appropriation for unauthorised expenditure 0 46,619

Other revenue to be surrendered to the revenue fund 2 81,355 83,438
Local and foreign aid assistance (including RDP funds) 0 7

TOTAL REVENUE 7,601,778 7,156,897

EXPENDITURE
Current

Personnel 3 5,013,477 4,714,639
Administrative 269,822 256,216
Inventories 4 719,525 649,200
Land and buildings 6 22 96
Professional and special services 7 520,441 443,583
Transfer payments 8 16,457 14,936
Miscellaneous 9 36 41
Special functions: authorised losses 10 3,087 4,502
Local and foreign aid assistance (including RDP funds) 0 7
Unauthorised expenditure approved 11.1 0 46,619

TOTAL CURRENT EXPENDITURE A 6,542,867 6,129,839

Capital

Personnel 3 17,945 13,985
Administrative 546 1,036
Inventories 4 6,370 4,994
Machinery and equipment 5 130,219 116,152
Land and buildings 6 688,634 848,461
Professional and special services 7 529 634

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE B 844,243 985,262

TOTAL EXPENDITURE A + B 7,387,110 7,115,101

NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) 214,668 41,796

Add back unauthorised and fruitless and wasteful expenditure disallowed 11.1 0 41,642

NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 214,668 83,438

Reconciliation of Net Surplus / (Deficit) for the year
Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue fund 14 133,313 0
Other revenue to be surrendered to the Revenue fund 15 81,355 83,438

NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 214,668 83,438

INCOME STATEMENT (STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE)
for the year ended 31 March 2004

Note 2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000
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Note 2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000

ASSETS
Current assets 149,241 125,747

Unauthorised and fruitless and wasteful expenditure 11 72,095 72,095
Cash and cash equivalents 12 42,481 460
Receivables 13 34,665 53,192

TOTAL ASSETS A 149,241 125,747

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 146,751 124,290

Voted funds to be surrendered to the revenue fund 14 133,313 0
Other revenue funds to be surrendered to the revenue fund 15 1,265 2,903
Bank overdraft 16 0 103,180
Payables 17 12,173 18,207

TOTAL LIABILITIES B 146,751 124,290

NET ASSETS / LIABILITIES A - B 2,490 1,457

Represented by: 2,490 1,457

Recoverable revenue 2,490 1,457

TOTAL 2,490 1,457

BALANCE SHEET (STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION)
at 31 March 2004
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Note 2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000

Recoverable revenue

Opening balance 1,457 272
Transfer to Revenue fund 19 1,033 1,185

Closing balance 2,490 1,457

Local and foreign aid assistance (including RDP funds) remaining

Opening balance 0 7
Transfers 0 (7)

Closing balance 0 0

TOTAL 2,490 1,457

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
for the year ended 31 March 2004
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Note 2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net cash flow generated by operating activities 18 1,058,315 1,026,635
Cash generated / (utilised) to (increase) / decrease working capital 19 13,526 (18,240)
Voted funds and revenue funds surrendered 20 (82,993) (114,556)
Unauthorised expenditure approved 11.1 0 46,619

Net cash flow available from operating activities 988,848 940,458

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (843,647) (984,839)

Capital expenditure (844,243) (985,262)
Proceeds from sale of equipment 2 596 423

Net cash flows from operating and investing activities 145,201 (44,381)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 145,201 (44,381)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period (102,720) (58,339)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 16/12 42,481 (102,720)

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2004

STATEMENTSMENTS
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2004

1 Annual Appropriation

1.1 Included are funds appropriated in terms of the Appropriation Act for National Departments (Voted Funds)

Total Actual Funds Variance Total 
Programmes  Appropriation received over/(under) Appropriation

2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Administration 2,446,581 2,446,581 0 2,305,882 
Incarceration 3,613,883 3,613,883 0 3,425,216 
Rehabilitation 430,807 430,807  0 356,442 
Community Corrections 262,759 262,759 0 260,424 
Facility Management and Capital Works 1,362,782  1,362,782 0 1,234,938 
Special Functions 0 0 0 4,503 
Sub Total 8,116,812 8,116,812 0 7,587,405 
Internal Charges (596,389) (596,389) 0  (560,572)

TOTAL 7,520,423  7,520,423 0 7,026,833

2 Other revenue to be surrendered to the revenue fund

2003/04 2002/03
Description Note R'000 R'000 

Material losses recovered 2.1 169 44
Gifts, donations and sponsorships received 2.2 269 80
Sale of farm products 1,922 2,248
Cheques written back / stale cheques 2,252 984
Proceeds from sale of equipment 596 423
Domestic services 17,339 16,959
Levies 15,918 16,232
Recoveries of housing rent 20,060 19,283
Interest received 1,544 5,010
Other 21,286 22,175

81,355 83,438

2.1 Material losses recovered
Nature of loss recovered
GG Accidents 9 13
Inventory 73 18
Other 87 13

169 44

2.2 Gifts, donations and sponsorships received by the department
Nature of gift, donation and sponsorship
Cash donation - Emory University 108 80
Cash donation - Foundation of Human Rights 161 0

269 80
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for the year ended 31 March 2004

2.3 Gifts, donations and sponsorships received in kind 
excluding RDP funds by the department 
(Total not included above)
Nature of gift, donation and sponsorship
Equipment 221 412
Livestock 6 9
Books 5 19
Other 19 23

251 463

3 Personnel

3.1 Current expenditure
Appropriation to Executive and Legislature (Basic salary) 771 532

Minister 557 532
Deputy Minister 214 0

Basic salary costs 3,104,594 2,880,158
Pension contributions 395,426 363,241
Medical aid contributions 631,084 681,359
Other salary related costs 881,602 789,349

5,013,477 4,714,639

3.2 Capital expenditure
Basic salary costs 15,698 12,157
Pension contributions 2,103 1,544
Other salary related costs 144 284

17,945 13,985

Total Personnel Costs 5,031,422 4,728,624

Average number of employees 35,037 34,000

4 Inventories

4.1 Current expenditure
Inventories purchased during the year
Printing and stationery 32,171 30,814
Building and cleaning material 127,524 138,981
Medical supplies 26,461 44,103
Rations 341,674 278,367
Other 191,695 156,935

719,525 649,200
4.2 Capital expenditure

Inventories purchased during the year
Printing and stationery 4 3
Building and cleaning material 6,312 4,892
Other 54 99

6,370 4,994
Total cost of inventories 725,895 654,194

2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000
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for the year ended 31 March 2004

5 Machinery and equipment
Capital 5.1 130,219 116,152
Total capital expenditure 130,219 116,152

5.1 Capital machinery and equipment analysed as follows:
Computer equipment 53,928 28,821
Furniture and office equipment 6,855 7,704
Other machinery and equipment 48,534 60,003
Transport 20,902 19,624

130,219 116,152

6 Land and buildings

Current expenditure (Net of cash discounts) 22 96
Total current expenditure 22 96
Capital expenditure 6.1 688,634 848,461
Total current and capital expenditure 688,656 848,557

6.1 Capital land and building expenditure analysed as follows:

Dwellings 1,621 23,041
Non-residential buildings 30,544 15,127
Other structures (infrastructure assets) 656,469 810,293

688,634 848,461

7 Professional and special services

7.1 Current expenditure
Auditors’ remuneration 13,032 11,323

Regularity 11,701 10,275
Performance 867 475
Other audits 464 573

Contractors 44,675 49,275
Consultants and advisory services 16,758 12,593
Commissions and committees 7,872 7,932
Computer services 31,305 31,184
Hiring of photocopiers and oxygen cylinders 6,084 0
Other 400,715 331,276

520,441 443,583
7.2 Capital expenditure

Contractors 529 628
Other 0 6

529 634

Total professional and special services 520,970 444,217

Note 2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000
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8 Transfer payments

Other transfers Annexure 1 16,457 14,936
16,457 14,936

Analysis of transfer payments
Current 16,457 14,936

16,457 14,936

9 Miscellaneous

9.1 Current expenditure
Remissions, refunds and payments made as an act of grace 9.2 4 1
Other 32 40
Total miscellaneous expenditure 36 41

9.2 Remissions, refunds and payments made as an act of grace 
Nature of remissions, refunds and payments
Other 4 1

4 1

9.3 Gifts, donations and sponsorships made in kind 
(items expensed in previous periods - total value not 
included above)
Nature of gifts, donations and sponsorships

Current
Corporate gifts 24 17
Poverty alleviation 421 468
Other 10 12

455 497
Capital
Equipment and furniture 10 0

10 0

Total gifts, donations and sponsorships made in kind 465 497

10 Special functions: Authorised losses

Material losses through criminal conduct 10.1 50 103
Other material losses written off in income statement 10.2 1,811 1,561
Debts written off 10.4 1,226 2,838

3,087 4,502

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2004

Note 2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2004

10.1 Material losses through criminal conduct
Nature of losses
State vehicles 5 1
Cash 16 59
Other 29 43

50 103

10.2 Other material losses written off in income statement
Nature of losses
State vehicles 406 367
Claims 1,253 1,000
Other 152 194

1,811 1,561

10.3 Other material losses of items expensed in previous periods 
(Total not included above)
Nature of losses Current expenditure Capital expenditure  2003/04 2002/03

R'000  R'000  R'000 R'000
Logistical losses:
Through criminal conduct 27 198 225 64
Other losses 156 85 241 192

183 283 466 256

10.4 Debts written off 
Nature of debts written off
Overpaid salaries 216 253
State guarantees 262 19
Tax debt 76 2,272
Leave without pay 125 120
Other 547 174

1,226 2,838

10.5 Details of special functions (theft and losses)
Per programme
Special functions: theft and losses 3,087 4,502

3,087 4,502

11 Unauthorised and fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
disallowed

Unauthorised expenditure 11.1 72,095 72,095
72,095 72,095

11.1 Reconciliation of unauthorised expenditure balance

Opening balance 72,095 77,072
Unauthorised expenditure current year 0 41,642
Approved by Parliament 0 (46,619)
Closing balance 72,095 72,095

Note 2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000
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11.2 Unauthorised expenditure
Incident Disciplinary steps taken / criminal 

proceedings
Overspending of the budget Accounting Officer to sensitize various 0 41,642

Regional Commissioners and request 
that Area Commissioners within their 
Provinces also be sensitized. 

0 41,642

12 Cash and cash equivalents

Paymaster General Account 42,006 0
Cash on hand 475 460

42,481 460

13 Receivables - current

Amounts owing by other departments Annexure 4 3,143 5,543
Staff debtors 13.3 16,216 12,190
Other debtors 13.4 14,551 13,436
Advances 13.5 755 22,023

34,665 53,192

13.1 Amounts of R13,996,000 (2003: R12,655,000) included above 
may not be recoverable, but has not been written off in the 
income statement.

13.2 Age analysis – receivables current
Less than one year 27,072 19,306
One to two years 1,946 5,058
More than two years 4,892 6,803

33,910 31,167

13.3 Staff debtors
Salary overpayments, leave without pay and state guarantees 16,216 12,190

16,216 12,190

13.4 Other debtors
Supplier over payments, theft, claims and losses under investigation 14,551 13,436

14,551 13,436

13.5 Advances
Nature of advances
Advances MX Health 0 20,867
Subsistence & transport: Standing advances 298 236
Subsistence & transport: General 457 920

755 22,023

Note 2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2004

14 Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

Opening balance 0 32,283
Transfer from income statement 133,313 0
Paid during the year 0 (32,283)
Closing balance 133,313 0

15 Other revenue funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

Opening balance 2,903 1,738
Transfer from income statement for revenue to be surrendered 81,355 83,438
Paid during the year (82,993) (82,273)
Closing balance 1,265 2,903

16 Bank overdraft

Paymaster General Account (Exchequer account) 0 103,180

17 Payables - current

Other payables 17.1 12,173 18,207
12,173 18,207

17.1 Other payables
Persal deductions 11,918 17,966
Electronic funds transfer rejections 86 133
Deposit and fines 169 108

12,173 18,207

18 Net cash flow generated by operating activities

Net surplus as per Income Statement 214,668 83,438
Adjusted for items separately disclosed 843,647 984,839

Proceeds from sale of equipment 2 (596) (423)
Capital expenditure 844,243 985,262

Adjusted for non-cash items
Unauthorised expenditure current year 0 (41,642)

Net cash flow generated by operating activities 1,058,315 1,026,635

19 Cash generated / (utilised) to (increase) / decrease working capital

(Increase) / decrease in receivables – current 18,527 (12,554)
Increase / (decrease) in payables – current (6,034) (6,871)
Increase / (decrease) in other current liabilities 1,033 1,185

13,526 (18,240)

20 Voted funds and revenue funds surrendered
Voted funds surrendered 14 0 (32,283)
Revenue funds surrendered 15 (82,993) (82,273)

(82,993) (114,556)

Note 2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000
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21 Contingent liabilities 2003/04 2002/03
Liable to Nature Note R'000 R'000

Motor vehicle guarantees Employees Annexure 2 434 819
Housing loan guarantees Employees Annexure 2 80,598 79,133
Claims 34,185 18,290

115,217 98,242

Prior year opening balances have been restated to reflect capital amount outstanding at 31/03/2003

22 Commitments

Current expenditure
Approved and contracted / ordered 36,426 27,818

Capital expenditure
Approved and contracted / ordered 7,114 0

Total commitments 43,540 27,818

23 Accruals

Listed by standard Item
Administrative expenditure 4,238 1,304
Inventory 37,486 28,764
Equipment 5,330 1,190
Professional and special services 2,680 11,829
Transfer payments 45 37

49,779 43,124

Listed by programme level
Administration 41,861 39,451
Incarceration 982 1,632
Rehabilitation 929 702
Community corrections 262 78
Facilities management 5,745 1,261

49,779 43,124

24 Employee benefits

Leave entitlement 645,537 479,676
Thirteenth cheque 121,638 109,151
Performance bonus 0 1,107

767,175 589,934

These amounts are not recognised in the financial statements, and are disclosed to enhance the usefulness of
the financial statements and to comply with the statutory requirements of the Public Finance Management Act,
Act 1 of 1999 (as amended by Act 29 of 1999), the Treasury Regulations for Departments and Constitutional
Institutions issued in terms of the Act and the Division of Revenue Act, Act 7 of 2003.
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DISCLOSURE NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2004

25 Leases

25.1 Operating leases Property Equipment Total  Total 
Not later than 1 year 194,734 4,088 198,822 195,268
Later than 1 year and not later than 3 years 389,469 3,724 393,193 389,469
Later than 3 years 1,902,878 151 1,903,029 2,097,612

2,487,081 7,963 2,495,044 2,682,349

2002/2003 Lease liabilities have been restated to include VAT

26 Irregular expenditure

26.1 Movement shedule of irregular expenditure
Opening Balance 225 0
Irregular expenditure current year * 427 347
Expenditure not condoned 26.2 (31) (122)
Expenditure waiting condonement 621 225

* Figure has been amended for 2002 / 2003 due to R18,000 not considered irregular expenditure.

Analysis
Current 427 365
Prior years 194 0

621 365

26.2 Not condoned expenditure
Incident Disciplinary steps taken / criminal 

proceedings
Rendering of sanitary services: A written warning letter was issued to
Rentokill - logistical procedures the official. A general notice was
not adhered to. circulated at the Area Commissioner 0 108

to ensure that all officials are aware of 
logistical procedures.

Conversion of store room into Disciplinary steps are in progress. 0 14
a cell without adhering to the 
logistical procedures.

Utilisation of external accommo- Officials were verbally warned. Officials 31 0
dation (Rocky Lodge) without to undergo training with regard to
adhering to the logistical proce- logistical procedures.
dures.

31 122

2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000



DCS Annual Report 2003/04 73

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONAL SERVICES (VOTE 21)

STATEMENTSMENTS

27 Key management personnel

27.1 Remuneration (Basic salary)
Minister 557 532
Deputy Minister 214 0
Commissioner (DG) 502 434
Chief Deputy Commissioners - including the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 3,276 1,013
Other 26,919 4,710

31,468 6,689

27.2 Other remuneration and compensation provided to key 
management and close members of the family of key management
personnel
Minister 231 138
Deputy Minister 80 0
Commissioner (DG) 281 653
Chief Deputy Commissioners 1,617 667
Other 14,894 4,490

17,103 5,948

28 Gifts, donations and sponsorships received
Nature of gift, donation or sponsorship

Cash 268 0
Clothing 16 0
Consumables 13 0
Other 22 0

319 0

29 Public / Private Partnerships

29.1 Description of Public / Private Partnership arrangement
To design / finance / contract and manage a maximum security prison for a contract period of 25 years. 
The contractor ''Bloemfontein Correctional Contracts'' is currently operating Mangaung Maximum Security
prison in the Free State Province and the contractor ''South African Custodial Services'' is currently oper-
ating Kutama-Sinthumule Maximum Security prison in the Limpopo Province.

29.2 Significant terms of the arrangement that may affect the amount, timing and certainty of future cash
flows
The cash flow models for the two public private partnerships (PPP) projects were created.
The cash flow models enable DCS to determine the estimated costs of the two projects over their 25 
year contract period.
The contract fee is based on the daily available prisoner places. This fee is split into two components, the
fixed component and the indexed component for each year.
The indexed component will be escalated on each review date (every six months) as stipulated in
Schedule E to the contract. The fixed component will however remain the same for a period of 15 years,
whereafter the fixed fee will fall away.

DISCLOSURE NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2004

2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000
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DISCLOSURE NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2004

29.3 The nature and extent of:
- Rights to use specified assets.

Assets must be managed and maintained by the contractor for the whole contract period.

Intellectual Property Rights:
All rights in data, reports, drawings, models, specifications and/or other material produced by or on 
behalf of the department shall vest in and be the property of the state and the contractor is hereby 
granted an irrevocable non-exclusive and royalty-free license to use such material for the purpose 
of the project.
The contractor hereby grants the department an irrevocable non-exclusive license in perpetuity, to 
use the data, reports, drawings, models, specifications, plans, software designs, inventions and/or 
other material solely for the purpose of maintaining and operating the prison.

- Obligations to provide or rights to expect provisions of services.

Contractor
Construction of the prison.
Maintenance and operation of the prison for the contract period of 25 years.
Keep prisoners in safe custody. 
Maintaining order, discipline, control and a safe environment.
Providing decent conditions and meeting prisoners needs.
Providing structured day programmes.
Preparing prisoners for return to the community.
Delivering prison services.
Involvement with the community.

Correctional Services
To ensure that there are always prisoners placed in available prisoner spaces.
To pay the contractor on a monthly basis.
To manage the contract on a monthly basis.

- Obligations to acquire or build items of property, plant and equipment.
Original buildings constructed according to DCS specifications. Any further changes / alterations 
and additions to be negotiated.

- Obligations to deliver or rights to receive specified assets at the end of the concession period.
All assets including equipment become the property of DCS after expiry of the contract period.

- Renewal and termination options.
Can be negotiated if so directed by Government.

- Other rights and obligations.
All maintenance obligations are the responsibility of the contractor for the entire contract period.

29.4 Changes in the arrangement occurring during the period must be done by means of negotiations
between both parties.
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2003/04 2002/03
R'000 R'000

DISCLOSURE NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2004

30 Biological / Cultivated assets

Biological / Cultivated assets on hand
Pigs 6,671 8,175
Sheep 4,457 3,718
Goats 201 351
Chickens 1,636 2,412
Ostriches 179 146
Dogs 121 0
Horses 120 120
Cows 14,619 18,170

28,004 33,092
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PHYSICAL ASSET MOVEMENT SCHEDULE (Not including inventories)

PHYSICAL ASSETS Opening Additions Disposals Depreciation Transfers Transfers Closing 
ACQUIRED DURING   Balance In Out Balance 
FINANCIAL YEAR 2003/04 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 0 63,751 26 6,375 5,134 0 62,484
Transport assets 0 31,677 0 2,774 5,134 0 34,037 
Computer equipment 0 7,449 0 1,094 0 0 6,355 
Furniture and office equipment 0 6,608 0 742 0 0 5,866 
Other machinery and equipment 0 18,017 26 1,765 0 0 16,226 

0 63,751 26 6,375 5,134 0 62,484
**

*  This annexure excludes items of value less then R5,000 and therefore does not agree to Note 5.
** Treasary approval was obtained for the non-disclosure of the opening balances for the current financial year.

PHYSICAL ASSETS Opening Additions Disposals Depreciation Transfers Transfers Closing 
ACQUIRED DURING   Balance In Out Balance 
FINANCIAL YEAR 2002/03*** R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Computer equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Furniture and office equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Other machinery and equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Transport assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

***  Information pertaining to previous year cannot be furnished due to capturing of assets not complete at
year end.

ANNEXURES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2004

ANNEXURE 3 *
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DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONAL SERVICES (VOTE 21)

STATEMENTSMENTS
DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONAL SERVICE (VOTE 21)

Water Affairs and Forestry 0 0 831 0 
Agriculture 0 0 114 0 
Defence 0 0 188 0 
Public Service and Administration 0 0 77 0 
Education 0 0 50 0 
Northern Cape Province 0 0 3 0 
Environmental Affairs and Tourism 0 0 19 0 
Labour 0 0 1 0 
South African Police Service 0 0 873 0 
Justice 0 0 (323) 0 
Public Works 222 0 418 0 
Home Affairs 0 0 101 0 
Health 0 0 (20) 0 
Health - Gauteng 36 0 0 0 
Health - Kwazulu-Natal 19 0 0 0 
Social Development 0 0 100 0 
Private & other institutions 0 0 429 0 
National Treasury 0 0 81 0 
Presidency 0 0 (63) 0 
Land Affairs 0 0 (15) 0 
Western Cape Province 0 0 2 0 

277 0 2,866 5,543

* *
* Amounts per department for the previous year are not available.

ANNEXURES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2004

ANNEXURE 4
INTER-DEPARTMENTAL RECEIVABLES - CURRENT

Department Confirmed balance
outstanding

31/03/2004

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

31/03/2003 31/03/2004 31/03/2003

Unconfirmed balance
outstanding
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DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONAL SERVICES (VOTE 21)

NOTES TO THE APPROPRIATION STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2004

1.  Detail of current and capital trans-
fers as per Appropriation Act (after
Virement):

Detail of these transactions can be viewed in note 10
(Transfer payments) and Annexure 1 to the annual
financial statements.

2.  Detail of specifically and exclusive-
ly appropriated amounts voted
(after Virement):

Detail of these transactions can be viewed in note 1
(Annual Appropriation) to the annual financial state-
ments.

3.  Detail of special functions (theft
and losses)

Detail of these transactions per programme can be
viewed in note 12.5 (Details of special functions (theft
and losses)) to the annual financial statements.

4.  Explanations of material variances
from Amount(s) Voted (after vire-
ment):

4.1 Per programme:

Rehabilitation: The underspending under inventories:
internal is due to the non-finalization of Internal
Charges transactions and unspent computer external
equipment funds

Community Corrections: Underspending is due to
delays in obtaining invoices on the Inmate Tracking
project totalling R 25,0 million.The amount of R1,8
million has been requested as roll-over.

Facility Management and Capital Works: Under-
spending on infrastructure is mainly due to delays
experienced during planning stages of Capital
Projects.The amount has been requested as roll-over.

4.2 Per standard item:

Personnel: The overexpenditure was due to overtime
that could not be succesfully downmanaged during
the year due to no agreement being reached with
labour regarding the down-managing of overtime
and finding of cheaper compensation options for
weekend duty.

Administration: Expenditure to the amount of R 6, 6
million was paid at Head Office and R 3, 0 million at
Regional Commissioner Western Cape to
Governmant Garage from previous financial years as
far back as 1998 for expenditure such as interfaces
that did not match, damages and losses. Western
Cape Governmant Garage changed to a new system
which is why there were delays in the amount posted
against the Department. These amounts were not
budgeted for and were unforseen as Government
Garage only notified the department during the
course of the year.

Inventories: The bulk of this over-expenditure
occurred under prisoner rations R5,4 million, animal
feed R5,2 million and prisoner medicines R1,9million
prisoner personal hygiene items R5,2 million and
prisoner clothing R1,4 million in the programme:
Incarceration - current expenditure.

Equipment: The under-spending is due to unspent
equipment funds, as a result of the cancellation of the
computer equipment tender by State Information
Technology (SITA) and the non-finalisation of a new
tender before financial year-end.

Land and Buildings: Under-spending on infrastruc-
ture is mainly due to delays experienced during plan-
ning stages of Capital Projects.
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The statistics and information published in this part
of the annual report are required in terms of Chapter
1, Part III J.3 of the Public Service Regulations, 2001
and have been prescribed by the Minister for the
Public Service and Administration for all depart-
ments within the Public Service. 

The statistical tables provide high-level information
on key human resource issues. The information
aims to empower legislatures, the media, the public
and other key stakeholders to monitor whether
departments:

• are exercising the powers granted under Public
Service and Public Finance legislation in a
responsible manner

• are achieving national transformation priorities

established by the Cabinet, for example, affirma-
tive action.

For a detailed description and explanation of the ter-
minology used in this section of the report, please
consult the publication from the DPSA entitled "A
guide to understanding the oversight report of
departmental annual reports". A copy of the guide is
available from all departments or can be accessed
from the DPSA website (www.dpsa.gov.za).

5.1 Service delivery

The following tables reflect the components of the
SDI plan as well as progress made in the implemen-
tation of the plans. 

Table 1.1: Main services provided and standards

Main services Actual customers Potential Standard of service Actual achievement 
customers against standards

Present rehabilitation Sentenced offenders Community Number of offenders 
programmes participating with 

target:
Education

programmes 15 000 18 126
Training

programmes 10 500 19 851
Social work 

sessions 34 866 103 380
Psychological

sessions 10 000 9 352
Spiritual care 

sessions 150 000 156 457
Create work Sentenced offenders Daily average 
opportunities for number of work 
offenders opportunities for 

offenders provided 
by the Department 

with a target of 
27 065 36 698

Create work Sentenced offenders Daily average 
opportunities for number of work 
offenders opportunities for 

offenders provided 
by outside 

organisations with a 
target of 323 564
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Main services Actual customers Potential Standard of service Actual achievement 

customers against standards
A national Department of Community Agricultural
agricultural Correctional production: 
production system Services in terms of Vegetables Vegetables 
aimed at increasing self-sufficiency and 13 800 000 kg 14 167 195 kg
self sufficiency sentenced offenders Fruit Fruit 

in terms of work and 810 000 kg 771 401 kg 
training opportunities Red meat Red meat

550 000 kg 548 812 kg
Milk Milk

6 600 000 litre 6 814 863 litre
Pork Pork

1 950 000 kg 1 870 718 kg
Chicken Chicken

1 350 000 kg 1 516 783 kg
Eggs Eggs

1 500 000 doz 1 316 737 doz
To increase Department of Community Number of workshop 
productivity and Correctional products produced 
expanding capacity Services in terms of with the following 
of production self sufficiency and targets: 
workshops sentenced offenders Timber Timber

in terms of work and 70 000 units 58 273 units
training opportunities Textile Textile

2 100 000 units 1 926 305 units
Steel Steel

248 000 units 171 332 units
Provide Offenders Community Number of individual 
psychological consultations with a 
services to offenders target of 1 000 4 559
Provide Offenders Community Number of individual 
psychological therapy sessions 
services to offenders with a target of 

10 000 3 560
Offenders Community Number of group 

therapy sessions 
with a target of 900 403

Offenders Community Number of family 
therapy sessions 

with a target of 200 46
Correctional and Probationers and Community Number of 
Parole Supervision parolees probationers and

parolees per 
supervisory officer: 

target of 35 43 probationers and 
probationers and parolees per officer

parolees per officer
Correctional and Probationers and Community Percentage of total 
Parole Supervision parolees absconders traced 

with a target of 54% 58%
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Main services Actual customers Potential Standard of service Actual achievement 

customers against standards
Capital Works Offenders Number of additional 
Projects to establish offender places with
offender a target of 12 000 by  Delayed
accommodation the end of 2005/06
Capital Works Offenders Number of 
Projects to improve correctional centres
offender being renovated:
accommodation with a target of 33 33 correctional

correctional centres  centres completed
in 2003/04

Table 1.2: Consultation arrangements with customers

Type of arrangement Actual Customers Potential Customers Actual achievements
• Individual therapy Sentenced offenders Community The Department
• Group therapy / sessions adheres to the listed
• Family therapy consultation
• Church / Religious services arrangements
• Personal interviews
• Visits
• Religious literature
• Audio-visual programmes
• Radio programmes
• Study interviews
• Formative Assessment
• Summative Assessment
• Posters
• Brochures
• Pamphlets
• Tuition
• Career guidance
• National / International 

events (Adult Learners' 
week, International Literacy 
day, etc.)

• Brochures Uncentenced persons Community The Department
• Administrative support adheres to the listed
• Crises intervention consultation
• Church / Religious services arrangements
• Personal interviews
• Religious literature
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Type of arrangement Actual Customers Potential Customers Actual achievements
• Audio-visual programmes
• Radio programme
• Posters
• Pamphlets
• Limited interviews and Awaiting trial persons Community The Department 

support under community adheres to the listed
• Pamphlets corrections consultation

arrangements
• Limited interviews and Probationers and Community The Department 

support parolees adheres to the listed
• Pamphlets consultation
• Individual therapy arrangements
• Group therapy/sessions
• Family therapy
• Liaison with external spiritual / 

religious leaders from 
community regarding the 
reintegration of probationers 
and parolees

• Tender documentation Community (business Community The Department
• Tender bulletin community) adheres to the listed

consultation
arrangements

• Visiting times Family of offenders Community The Department
• Open / Family days adheres to the listed
• Family therapy (need based) consultation 
• Consultations arrangements
• Interviews
• Preparation for reintegration / 

release
• Certificate ceremonies
• Written communication 
• Notice boards 
• Consultations Portfolio Committee on Portfolio Committee on The Department
• Briefings Correctional Services Correctional Services adheres to the listed
• Lobbying consultation
• Presentations arrangements
• Brochures Non-Governmental Non-Governmental The Department
• Pamphlets Organization and Organization and adheres to the listed
• Meetings Community Based Community Based consultation
• Workshops Organization Organization arrangements
• Consultations
• Training / courses
• Reports
• Research
• Evaluation of programmes
• Symposium
• Reports SCOPA SCOPA The Department 
• Presentations adheres to the  listed 

consultation
arrangements
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Type of arrangement Actual Customers Potential Customers Actual achievements
• Inspection reports Inspecting Judge Inspecting Judge The Department
• Briefings adheres to the listed
• Presentations consultation
• Visits to prisons arrangements
• Frequent consultations
• Briefings and consultations National council of National council of The Department
• Reports on request Correctional Services Correctional Services adheres to the listed 
• Presentations consultation

arrangements
• Training Learning Institutions Learning Institutions The Department
• Research adheres to the listed
• Programme development / consultation 

design arrangements
• Consultation 
• Workshops / conferences
• Symposiums
• Briefing and consultation Portfolio Committee on Portfolio Committee on The Department 
• Presentation Justice Justice adheres to the listed 
• Lobby consultation

arrangements
• Joint projects State Departments State Departments The Department
• Information sharing (including JCPS (including JCPS adheres to the listed
• Conferences Departments and Departments and consultation
• Joint committees Social Sector Social Sector arrangements
• Training / courses Deparments) Departments)
• Meetings
• Networking
• Lobby
• Interdepartmental socializing

Table 1.3: Service delivery access strategy

Access Strategy Actual achievements
Development programmes to offenders Development programmes are voluntary e.g. weekly
Development programmes to parolees and Development programmes are voluntary e.g. weekly 
probationers
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Table 1.4: Service information tool

Types of information tool Actual achievements
Availability of development programmes To all offenders, probationers, parolees and ex-offen- 

ders as well as external interest groups, other govern- 
ment departments, correctional officials and other 
relevant stakeholders in English and Afrikaans by 
means of consultation, brochures, pamphlets and 

media on daily basis 
Access to services and information • Intranet

• Exhibitions
• Pamphlets

Visiting hours • To all offenders and families on daily basis by means 
of notice boards in line with language policy for that 

province
Statistics on offenders, probationers, parolees and • All officials who have access to MIS 
awaiting trial person population • To Portfolio Committee, Cabinet, Inspecting Judge, 

interested individuals, National Counsel, NGO's, 
CBO's by means of reports and presentations 

(monthly and annually) in English
Statistics on the involvement of offenders, probationers • To all officials by means of directives, reports and 
and parolees in rehabilitation programmes MIS 

• To Portfolio Committee, Cabinet, Inspecting Judge, 
interested individuals, National Counsel, NGO's, 

CBO's, ex-offenders  by means of reports 
consultation and presentations (monthly and 

annually) in English
Privileges • To all officials, offenders, families, interested groups 

and relevant stakeholders by means of pamphlets, 
brochures, media, presentations on daily basis in 

English
Policy on admission, detention and release of • To all officials, offenders, families, interested groups 
offenders, probations, parolees and awaiting trial and relevant stakeholders by means of pamphlets, 
persons  brochures, media, presentations on daily basis in 

English
Conditions to persons subject to community corrections  • To all officials, probationers, parolees, awaiting trial 

persons, families and all relevant stakeholders by 
means of pamphlets, brochures, media, 

presentation, verbal communication on a daily basis 
in English and all official languages 

Policy on utilization on SMME and HDI's • To the business community whenever need arise by 
means of bulletin and meetings in English

Table 1.5: Complaints mechanism

Complaints Mechanism Actual achievements
Offenders, parolees, probationers and awaiting trial Complaints and requests systems
persons Independent Inspecting Judge

Interviews
Community Representations by community  

Family therapy 
Business community Tender complaints can be forwarded to the following: 

Anti-corruption Unit, Public Protector, Auditor 
General, State Tender Board and the SAPS
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